This document is made available electronically by the Minnesota Legislative Reference Library as part of an ongoing digital archiving project. http://www.leg.state.mn.us/Irl/Irl.asp



Acknowledgements

In 2010, 12 members from across the state were appointed to the K-12 Online Learning Advisory Council for a three year term to bring to the attention of the commissioner any matters related to online learning and provide input to the department.

The statute was revised in 2012 with additional tasks for the council. This included oversight of the development and maintenance of a catalog of publicly available digital learning content aligned to Minnesota academic standards.

Additionally, the council was charged with the review of Minnesota laws and rules pertaining to classroom learning to determine which ones, if any, inhibit digital learning. This review by the council due June 30, 2013, shall include any proposed legislation.

The council met 4-5 times each year over three years and addressed various tasks in focused discussion, expert testimony and through subcommittee work on specific issues. The subcommittee on Removing the Barriers to Digital Learning and Innovation reviewed laws and rules and their work formed the foundation of this report. The subcommittee members included Jessica Wiley, Karen Johnson and Elissa Raffa.

It is with deep appreciation that the council members are acknowledged. Their contributions, time and expertise were valuable in the process of considering and constructing recommendations to state policymakers and the commissioner.

K-12 Online Learning Advisory Council Members

- Stacy Bender, Dean of Students, Minnesota Virtual High School
- Gigi Dobosenski, Co-Director and Advisor, EdVisions Off Campus High School
- Karen Johnson, Director of SOCRATES Online, South Central Service Cooperative
- Dr. Gary Langer, Associate Vice Chancellor for Academic Innovations, Minnesota State Colleges and Universities
- Mary Mehsikomer, Technology Integration Development & Outreach Facilitator, TIES
- Elissa Raffa, Dean of Academic Programming, Minnesota Online High School
- Cecelia Retelle, Manager, Minnesota Chamber of Commerce (through September 2011)
- Curt Tryggestad, Superintendent, Little Falls Public Schools; Board of Directors, Infinity
 Online
- Dr. Jonathan Voss, Supervisor of Academic Programs, Intermediate District 287
- John Weisser, Director of Technology, Bloomington Public Schools
- Dr. Jessica Wiley, Director of Educational Services, Northeast Metro 916 Intermediate School District

Special funding was appropriated for the costs of preparing this report in Chapter Law 273 S.F.1528 (2012) The estimated cost incurred by the Minnesota Department of Education in preparing this report is \$4,500.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements2
K-12 Online Learning Advisory Council Members
Executive Summary
Introduction
I. Learning: Engage and Empower8
Student Eligibility and Learner Options
II. Assessment: Measure what Matters Most27
III. Quality Teaching: Prepare and Connect
IV. Infrastructure: Digital Learning Delivery
V. Digital Learning: Funding and Productivity
VI.Quality Digital Content
Thoughtful Integration of Statutes and Statewide Initiatives
References
Appendix62
Specific Recommendations on Laws and Rules

Executive Summary

School districts across Minnesota are integrating digital learning in curriculum, instruction and assessments of K-12 students in public education. State approved programs (27 to date) offer full time and part time online learning options, and local districts provide blended and flipped instruction in site-based classes. Digital technologies are impacting all aspects of teaching, learning, assessment, curriculum, infrastructure and education funding.

The Minnesota legislature directed the K1-2 Online Learning Advisory Council to review laws and rules pertaining to classroom learning to determine which ones, if any, inhibit digital learning in 2012 when it passed S.F. 1528. This report addresses the directive to the Council. Additionally in 2012, the legislature defined digital learning as "learning facilitated by technology that offers students an element of control over the time, place, or pace of their learning and includes blended and online learning." Thus digital learning is the overarching umbrella to blended, online and traditional education that personalizes learning by giving students options to learn best through flexible pathways facilitated by technology.

The Online Learning Advisory Council reviewed reports in its study of digital learning in Minnesota that various state task forces, advisory councils and other organizations have submitted, including the following. Each report calls for shifts in education that could support digital learning to better prepare students for 21st century work and study.

- 2002 Online Learning in Minnesota: Summary Report of the Online Learning Task Force
- 2004 Digital Learning Plan of Minnesota
- 2008 Summary of the Work of the K-12 Online Learning Advisory Council 2006-2008
- 2010 Innovative Schools Advisory Council Report
- 2011 Minnesota Legislative Audit of K-12 Online Learning
- 2012 Governor's Broadband Task Force Annual Report
- 2012 Mid-term Report of the K-12 Online Learning Advisory Council 2010-2012

This report is organized around goals set forth by the National Educational Technology Plan (2010) of the U.S Department of Education:

- I. Learning: Engage and Empower
- II. Assessment: Measure What Matters
- III. Quality Teaching: Prepare and Connect
- IV. Infrastructure: Access and Equitable
- V. Digital Learning: Funding and productivity
- VI. Quality Digital Content

The Digital Learning Now! 10 Elements of Quality Digital Learning (2010) released by the Digital Learning Council also were reviewed since they suggest state policy actions. Examples from other states are referenced as models of cutting edge policies that move education in the direction of creating efficiencies for schools and increasing learning outcomes for all students through personalized digital learning.

Key findings and broad recommendations

- Provide students and families with information about and access to digital learning options. Online and blended learning opportunities vary by type of program (state-approved or local district) and district policy yet many students do not participate in online courses nor have access to local online or blended courses. This is in part due to not knowing about their options and not being encouraged at the local level to pursue available options. Review eligibility with regards to serving special populations of students to create greater equity and consistency of opportunity.
- Accelerate the adoption of digital curriculum. Decisions about digital content and curriculum reside at the local level within state and national policy parameters. Any initiative to provide open educational resources aligned to state academic standards and designed by Minnesota teachers should be supported at the state level. Purchasing cycles based on outdated multi-year investments in textbooks should be modified.
- **Fund student learning.** Funding school option programs is variable and inconsistent, allowing some programs to enroll students and report partial credit and over-enrollment for funding. Until fractional funding based on student need follows the student more closely to where they are instructed, options will remain inequitably implemented.
- **Measure and assess outcomes.** The current system of measuring and monitoring quality in Minnesota public education is reliant mainly on inputs: content standards, teacher licensure requirements, seat-time requirements, along with outputs such as student proficiency, annual student growth achievement, closing the achievement gap and graduation rates. Digital learning holds promise for new ways of measuring quality outcomes and provides for greater frequency of assessment to occur at the time of learning.
- Invest in trained teachers and "human capital". In recent legislation there are requirements for both pre-service and in-service training for teaching in a digital setting, although there has been no guidance established on how districts or colleges should implement this requirement. Establish digital teaching standards and develop training programs. Design and train for new roles within schools such as digital learning lab coaches and local education guides to support students taking online courses.
- **Create a robust and reliable infrastructure.** Digital learning requires an infrastructure that supports access by students to mobile devices and the internet 24 hours per day, 7 days per week, 52 days per year. There is no longer an "off hours" period when students are not connected to and supported by their schools. Without ubiquitous broadband access and adoption and one-to-one mobile computing devices, we have left students at the side of the road without a "bus" to school.
- Encourage and embrace new model schools and programs. Digital learning provides great promise for transforming education, yet significant investments through state policy have not been made. It is inefficient for each district to research new paradigms, construct digital learning plans, train teachers and staff and redirect resources and funding. The state should provide incentives for new and innovative schools that use digital learning to personalize instruction and individualize student advancement through collaboration and encouragement of new model schooling.

Removing the Barriers to Digital Learning in Minnesota A Review of State Laws and Rules and Policy Recommendations

"Technology is at the core of virtually every aspect of our daily lives and work, and we must leverage it ... Technology based learning and assessment systems will be pivotal in improving student learning and generating data that can be used to continuously improve the education system at all levels." National Education Technology Plan 2010¹

Introduction

In 2012, the Minnesota State Legislature amended the directive to the K-12 Online Learning Advisory to review state laws and rules pertaining to classroom learning that may inhibit digital education in M.S. 124D.095.

124D.095 Sec. 9. ONLINE LEARNING ADVISORY COUNCIL REPORT.
(a) The Online Learning Advisory Council shall review Minnesota education laws and rules pertaining to classroom learning to determine which ones, if any, inhibit digital learning. The council shall include the results of their review in the report under paragraph
(b).

(b) The council shall report to the committees of the legislature having jurisdiction over kindergarten through grade 12 education with its recommendations, including any proposed legislation, by June 30, 2013.

The same year, the Online Learning Option Act was amended to define digital learning as "learning facilitated by technology that offers students an element of control over the time, place, path, or pace of their learning and includes blended or online learning."

124D.095 **ONLINE LEARNING OPTION ACT** subdivision 2, is amended (2012) to read: Subd. 2. **Definitions.** For purposes of this section, the following terms have the meanings given them.

(a) **"Digital learning"** is learning facilitated by technology that offers students an element of control over the time, place, path, or pace of their learning and includes blended and online learning.

(b) "**Blended learning"** is a form of digital learning that occurs when a student learns part time in a supervised physical setting and part time through digital delivery of instruction, or a student learns in a supervised physical setting where technology is used as a primary method to deliver instruction.

(c) **"Online learning"** is a form of digital learning delivered by an approved online learning provider under paragraph (d).

The Council discussed laws and rules that inhibit digital learning in terms of barriers to innovation and reviewed potential policies where the state may need to update or change statutory requirements and regulations to enhance digital learning opportunities.

¹ Transforming American Education Learning Powered by Technology, National Education Technology Plan 2010, U.S. Department of Education, Office of Educational Technology Retrieved May 2013 from: http://www.ed.gov/technology/netp-2010

Not only was this task given to the K-12 Online Learning Advisory in 2012 but this was also a recommendation of the Innovative School Advisory Council in January 2010. The Council suggested that a new commission should identify current laws that restrict the scope of learning models and constrain innovation.²

The discussion of barriers to digital learning have been framed around the six goals of the National Educational Technology Plan³ and the 10 elements of high quality digital learning identified in the report published in 2010 by Digital Learning Now!⁴. As noted below and described as expanded learning opportunities (ELO), the shift to digital learning involves a transformation of education more wide reaching then simply changing delivery formats.

Traditional /Historic		ELO
Seat Time	-	Competency/Mastery
Bricks & Mortar	_	Anytime, Anywhere
Agrarian Calendar	_	Flexible Calendar
Teacher-Driven Learning	_	Shared Ownership for Learning
One School	_	Multiple Learning Options
Annual Summative Assessment		Frequent Formative Assessments

*Figure 1: The elements of traditional education transformed by digital learning through Expanded Learning Opportunities (ELO).*⁵

Although the review of statutes is an important first step in identifying potentially inhibiting policy factors related to digital learning, it is also critical to focus recommendations in this report on supporting quality education that expands and transforms teaching and learning. In the conclusion it is suggested that a new approach to digital learning be considered rather than deconstructing the patchwork of education laws and rules that have become outdated and stretched beyond what can be incorporated into a comprehensive and integrated system.

² Innovative School Advisory Council: Report of the Council to Commissioner Alice Seagren Minnesota Department of Education, January 15, 2010, Retrieved June 2013:

http://www.educationinnovating.org/files/ISAC-Report-Jan-2010.pdf

³ National Education Technology Plan 2010

⁴ 10 Elements of High Quality Digital Learning, Digital Learning Now! (2010), Downloaded May 2013: http://www.digitallearningnow.com/

⁵ Expanded Learning Opportunities Commission, Beyond Walls, Clocks and Calendars: Rethinking Public Education in Colorado, Retrieved June 2013:

http://www.cde.state.co.us/choice/download/ELOCommissionReport-09.2011.pdf

I. Learning: Engage and Empower

All learners will have engaging and empowering learning experiences both in and out of school that prepare them to be active, creative, knowledgeable, and ethical participants in our globally networked society. Goal#1⁶

10 Elements of Quality Digital Learning.⁷

- Student Eligibility: All students are digital learners
- Student Access: All students have access to high quality digital learning
- Personalized Learning: All students can customize their education using digital content through an approved provider
- Advancement: All student progress based on demonstrated competency
- Quality Choices: All students have access to multiple high quality providers.

Statutes Addressing Student Eligibility and Learner Options, Access, Personalized Learning , and Advancement through Digital Learning

Education Code and Compulsory Attendance

MS 120A.22 Subd 6 Compulsory Attendance MS 120A.24 Reporting Truancy

MS 120A.34 Violations; Penalties

MS 120A.26 Enforcement and Prosecution

Academic Standards

MS 120B.019 Subd 4 Credit. "Credit" means the determination by the local school district that a student successfully completed an academic year of study or demonstrated attainment of applicable subject matter.

MS 120B.021 Required Academic Standards Subd. 1a. Rigorous course of study; waiver

MS 120B.024 Graduation Requirements; Course Credits

MS 120B.07 Early Graduation

MS 120B.08 Early Graduation Achievement Scholarship Program

120B,125 Planning for Students' Successful Transition to Postsecondary Education and Employment

MS 120B.14 Advanced Academic Credit. Makes allowance for granting credit for students attending an accelerated or advanced academic course...

School Districts: Formation and Cooperation

MS 123A.05 State Approved Alternative Program Organization

MS 123A.06 State Approved Alternative Programs and Services Subd. 3 Hours of Instruction Exemption

School District Powers and Duties

MS 123B.04 Site Based Decision-Making Agreement; Individualized Learning Agreement MS 123B.045 District-Created Site Governed Schools

Education Programs

MS 124D.03 Open Enrollment MS 124D.08 Agreement Between Boards MS 124D.09 Postsecondary Enrollment Option

⁶ National Education Technology Plan 2010

⁷ Digital Learning Now! 2010

MS 124D.095 Online Learning Option Act MS 124D.10 Charter Schools MS 124D.128 Learning Year Program to Provide Instruction Throughout the Year MS 124D.66 Assurance of Mastery Programs MS 124D.68 Graduation Incentives Program MS 124D.90 School Enrichment Partnership Program MS 124D.94 Minnesota Academic Excellence Foundation **Education Funding** MS 126C.05 Subd 15iv: Learning Year pupil units: Independent Study MS 126C.15 Basic Skills Revenue; MS 126D.19 Shared Time Aid Law Chapter 263: Innovative Delivery of Education Services and Sharing of District Resources: Pilot Project

All students have a right to a high quality education. In the 21st century, a high quality education will be infused with digital learning and global connections that can be made through technology-based education. With the use of sophisticated "smart", interactive and engaging technology and content, personalizing education through digital learning is more possible now than ever before.

In this section, student eligibility, learner options, access, advancement and personalized learning will be addressed in the context of digital learning.

Student Eligibility and Learner Options

According to Digital Learning Now! (DLN) 2010 10 Elements of Quality Learning student eligibility policy on the state level should include the following:

- State ensures access to high quality digital content and online courses to all students (Part time and fulltime for both K-8 and 9-12)
- State ensures access to high quality digital content and online courses to students in K-12 at any time in their academic career⁸

Students who attend public school programs should be eligible for publicly funded digital learning. Enrollment criteria for eligibility should not limit, delay or diminish options for digital learning.

Learner Options: MS 124D.095 Online Learning Option Act

Minnesota has a long history of learner options for K-12 students through state policy. In 1985, the Postsecondary Enrollment Option Act permitted high school students to attend college courses and earn dual credit. In 1988, open enrollment to a school district other than a student's resident district was written into statute. This was followed the next year by the creation of Learning Year Programs that provided for instruction throughout the year to support acceleration to graduation. By participating in a Learning

⁸ Digital Learning Now! 2010

Year Program, students can generate more than allowed for full-time status (1.0 Average Daily Membership (ADM) but a proportional acceleration in grade level progression must be documented. Charter schools became a choice option for students in 1991 to improve student outcomes, encourage innovative teaching methods, create new roles and responsibilities for teachers and establish new forms of assessment and accountability. In 2003, school choice became unbounded by geography with the establishment of MS 124D.095, giving students the opportunity to participate in online learning options.

The Online Learning Option Act provides for both part time and full time online learning through approved public school providers and local school districts. Since enacted it has been amended multiple times as emerging "best" practices and experience informed new policy perspectives. Presently, 27 online learning providers make available online courses and school programs statewide through public charter schools, school districts and consortia of school districts.

The specific subdivisions of the statute that address the rights of students to enroll in full time or part time state-approved online programs are noted in subdivision 3:

124D.095 Subd 3 Authorization; notice; limitations on enrollment

(a) A student may apply for full time enrollment in an approved online learning program under section 124D.03 (enrollment option/open enrollment), 124D.08 (agreement between boards), 124D.10 (charter school enrollment)....No school district or charter school may prohibit a student from applying to enroll in online learning.

This statute does limit enrollment in supplemental online courses to a maximum of 50 percent of the student's full schedule of courses per term during a single school year but allows for a student to exceed this registration limit if the enrolling district lifts this cap or if the enrolling district and the online learning provider agree to the instructional services to support additional enrollment.

Also the statute gives the right to enrolling districts to serve their own enrolled students with part time online or hybrid courses without reporting or review in subdivision 4:

124D.095 Subd 4(d) Online Learning Parameters

An enrolling district may offer digital learning to its enrolled students.... An enrolling district that offers digital learning only to its enrolled students is not subject to the reporting requirements or review criteria under subdivision 7, unless the enrolling district is a full time online learning provider.

Therefore, although Minnesota doesn't have a state virtual school supported by state funds and administered centrally, there are approved online learning public school providers serving both part and full time students statewide and a growing number of online and blended learning opportunities within local districts. Additionally, digital learning is evident in many learner option programs including PSEO, Learning Year Programs, Charter Schools, Independent Study Programs and State Approved Alternative Learning Programs.

Recommendation:

Learner option programs (MS 124D) should be reviewed for consistent policies on student eligibility that are impacted by enrollment restrictions, program approvals, reporting, review and accountability. Additionally, crosscutting programs such as online charter schools have burdensome and repetitive review and reporting requirements that should be streamlined.

Online Course Graduation Requirement

The Digital Learning Now! Report encourages states to require students to take a highquality college preparatory online course to "ensure students are better prepared to succeed in life after graduation in the digital age."⁹ The rationale is that having an online course experience as a necessary step toward career and college readiness. Michigan was the first state to require that students have an "online learning experience" to graduate. Alabama, Florida, Virginia and Idaho have followed by signing legislation requiring students to take at least one online course in order to earn a high school diploma.

Although this was proposed in HF 2127 and SF 1528 in the 2013 Minnesota legislature, it was not included in the final versions of the Omnibus Bill. The reason this was not considered is that the mandate to require this of all Minnesota students would have placed a burden on schools to offer online learning on short notice. This is especially true for rural students since some schools and families don't have access to the infrastructure needed to succeed in an online course. Additionally, this is already taking place within schools through online, hybrid and flipped instruction. At least one research center, the National Education Policy Center has recommended that policymakers suspend requirements that students take online courses in order to graduate from high school since "no reliable research has yet shown evidence of benefit from this practice."¹⁰

Recommendation:

Until further research or evidence shows that mandating a state online learning graduation requirement would improve student learning and college and career preparation, the state should consider other ways to support digital learning. For example, the Partnership for Collaborative Curriculum and Innovative Instruction is working on collaborative curriculum development and training projects among districts to design and implement digital units of instruction in all core courses in grades 3 -12. Embedded in this process is training teachers in instructional design, digital curriculum implementation and teaching strategies to effectively use digital content in classrooms that are site-based, hybrid or online.

Although all public school students have digital learning options by enrolling in local districts or approved online providers there are several statutes that are in need of

⁹ Digital Learning Now! Report Card, 2012, Retrieved May 2013, http://www.digitallearningnow.com/wp-content/uploads/reportcard/2012/2012ReportCard.pdf

¹⁰ Virtual Schools in the U.S. 2013, Alex Molnar, Editor, National Education Policy Center, Retrieved May 2013 http://nepc.colorado.edu/publication/virtual-schools-annual-2013

review that place limits on student eligibility for digital learning and create inequity of access. These include the following:

Serving Credit-Deficient Students

In Minnesota students must qualify under the Graduation Incentives Program statute to take courses above 1.0 Average Daily Membership (ADM) or full time status to recover credits that were attempted but not earned. These students can only take additional courses through extended time funding that is exclusively available through State Approved Learning Year Programs (SAAPs) including alternative learning centers, alternative learning programs and contract alternatives.

The three statutes that limit student eligibility to take additional courses for credit recovery based on student characteristics and approval of programs are:

- MS 124D.128 Learning Year Program to Provide Instruction Throughout the Year
- MS 124D.68 Graduation Incentives Program
- MS 126C.05 Subd 15iv: Learning Year pupil units: Independent Study

While acknowledging that students who are experiencing difficulty in the traditional education system should have the right to enroll in alternative programs, the state should make efforts to assure that these restrictions do not inhibit digital learning.

One recent departmental policy change has opened up possibilities for students who may be at a distance from a local alternative learning center and unable to attend a sitebased program. Prior to a rule change at MDE, programs that were approved to deliver independent study (IS) through State Approved Alternative Programs were required to provide 20% face-to-face contact with a teacher at a school site. After a pilot of three programs providing IS courses through SAAPs with virtual contact (online videoconferencing, learning management systems, email, phone calls and online chat and discussion formats), the department allowed independent study courses to be conducted online with "virtual" contact time with a teacher. The requirements to deliver online independent study includes a description of the type of student/teacher contact, a continuous learning plan and methods in place to track progress and develop intervention plans to be implemented.

Other states have addressed credit recovery using digital learning in a variety of ways:

Alabama created ACCESS, which provides online learning to all students and includes a support system for credit recovery for struggling students called PASS.

Oregon and New Hampshire have adopted competency-based education, which requires that students master competences to get credit. Students have the flexibility to start and stop at any time of the year.

New York has created iZone, which includes 160 schools that organize their curriculum, instruction, staffing, scheduling and resources around the needs, motivations and strengths of individual students.

Diploma Plus, Youth Connections and AdvancePath are all programs that maximize the potential benefits of using digital learning for credit recovery by using digital and blended learning formats.

Recommendation:

Allow online learning providers or district-based hybrid or digital learning programs to serve students who qualify for extended learning opportunities (credit recovery or acceleration) by funding these programs through extended time ADM. This would remove the chilling effect or inhibiting impact of student access to digital learning to recover credits due to inaccessibility of site-based alternative learning centers.

Also, restructuring extended time ADM was a recommendation of the Minnesota Education Finance Working Group in 2012, which would allow extended time ADM to be used by the district to determine the best way to support credit-deficient students.¹¹ This recommendation was not adopted, and raises important questions about the extent of student choice and funding following students. Further investigation of the impact on student enrollment options and the funding process for credit recovery should be conducted before this change is considered.

Non-Public Shared Time Student Eligibility

In MS 124D.01 shared time pupils are defined as "those pupils who attend public school programs for part of the regular school day and who otherwise fulfill the requirements of section MS 120A.22 by attendance at a public school."

Furthermore, in MS 126D.19 subd 4 "Shared Time Aid" is limited by the location of services as follows: "Public school programs that provide instruction in core curriculum may be provided to shared time pupils only at a public school building."¹²

It seems inconsistent to provide access to public education, which includes digital learning, while restricting the location of a student to engage in this format of learning. We allow public school students to access online learning regardless of place yet we require non public school students to access funded "shared time courses" only at a public school location. Additionally, students, both public and non public, can take advantage of school choice options such as postsecondary enrollment (PSEO) without requiring that the digital or online instruction occur on a college or high school campus.

Recommendation: Amend 124D.01 and 126D.19 by eliminating location restriction and enable access to digital learning. Remove the requirement that shared time aid is

¹¹ Minnesota Department of Education, Education Finance Working Group Report, 2012, Retrieved May 2013: http://education.state.mn.us/MDE/Welcome/AdvBCT/EducFinanWork/index.html

¹² Minnesota Office of the Revisor of Statutes, MS 126C.19 Shared Time Aid, Retrieved June 2013: https://www.revisor.mn.gov/statutes/?id=126C.19

¹³ A Review of State Laws and Rules and Policy Recommendations Related to Digital Learning

only available at the school site for non-public school students enabling non-public school students to take public online learning classes.

The impact on student funding would need to be evaluated.

Non-Domiciled Student Eligibility and Geopolitical Boundaries

Since the inception of public online learning in 2003, Minnesota families have inquired about access to online Minnesota education when they are outside the borders of the state. In some cases, these families are on extended leaves of absences (e.g., college faculty sabbaticals), families in the military, parents who may be located temporarily out of state for work and/or be based in multiple locations. The reasons families are out of state is not as important as giving them the opportunity to take online classes while they are away through the public school system they support as taxpayers.

Currently the law requires that students must be withdrawn after 15 consecutive school days and no further membership or state aid generated until the student returns to school and Minnesota. After physically returning to the local area, the school's reenrollment policies would apply. If the student is returning to the resident district, the district must enroll the student. If the student was open enrolled and voluntarily broke the open enrollment contract, then the student would need to re-apply for open enrollment. If the student were enrolled in a charter school, the charter school enrollment policy would apply.

MS 120A,22 COMPULSORY EDUCATION

Subd3(c) For purposes of sections $\underline{125A.03}$ to $\underline{125A.24}$ and $\underline{125A.65}$, the school district of residence ... shall be the school district in which **the pupil's biological or adoptive parent or designated guardian resides.** "

Additionally the statute that addresses admission to public school also affirms physical residency:

120A.20 ADMISSION TO PUBLIC SCHOOL.

Subdivision 1.Age limitations; pupils. (a) All schools supported in whole or in part by state funds are public schools. Admission to a public school is free to any person who: (1) **resides within the district** that operates the school;

Online learning calls into question residency issues by creating the opportunity for students who might be out of state temporarily to maintain access to and continuity with their Minnesota public education.

Recommendation: Amend MS 120A. 20 Admission to Public School and MS 122A.22 Compulsory Education to allow Minnesota residents temporarily living out of state to enroll in public education through online learning. Specific criteria would be established that would allow Minnesota families to qualify for public education through digital learning by defining residency in a way that takes into consideration the mobility of families in the digital age. Qualifying criteria for non-domiciled families would include paying property and state income taxes. Additionally, within truancy rules and statutes (Chapter Law 260A Truancy and MS 120A.26, 120A.34) the 15 day student "absence" from a school site requirement would need to be revised and instead allow competency or progression-based measures to be used to verify school engagement.

Demographics and Special Student Populations

Reports have shown that special populations of students are underrepresented in online learning courses and programs. In a study conducted by the National Education Policy Center in 2013¹³ it was reported that online students classified as special education students represented only half the national average 7.2% compared to 13.1% in the general student population. This gap in representation of special populations is also confirmed in survey research conducted by David Glick in Demographics of Online Students and Teachers in the United States 2010-11¹⁴ with only 6.2% of online learning students classified as special education students compared with 13.2% nationally of all public school students.

Just as digital learning is showing great potential for offering alternative formats, tools and strategies for engagement in education, this under-representation of special education students is concerning. Speculation includes that Individualized Education Program (IEP) teams may need to better understand the value of digital learning and the essential support required for it to positively impact student outcomes. Professional development is critical as well as effectively implementing instructional strategies that enhance and enrich digital learning for special populations of students.

Additional demographic data reported include:

- There are significantly more females in online programs than the national K-12 population. Females comprise 55.65% of online programs, compared to only 49.8% in the national K-12 population.
- Hispanic/Latino and Asian students are under-represented in online programs, which may contribute to the percentage of Hispanic/Latino and Asian students who are English Language Learners (ELL). Only 2.3% of students in online programs are ELL, compared to 11% nationally.
- Students qualifying for free and reduced lunch are underrepresented. 21.7% of online students qualify, while 45% of students nationwide qualify.

Recommendation: Require that online and district programs collect, analyze and report student outcome data linked to demographics of students engaged in digital learning.

A state task force should commission a study on the reasons that special populations of students are under-represented in digital learning courses and programs and propose

¹³ Virtual Schools in the U.S. 2013 (2013).

¹⁴ The Demographics off Online Students and Teachers in the United States 2010-11 (2011). Retrieved May 2013: http://www.glickconsulting.com/sites/default/files/images/Online_Demographics_Glick_2011.pdf

tools, instructional strategies and training that would support high quality content, instruction and support for special populations.

Special education and digital learning statutes and rules should address needs for support when special education students are engaged in digital learning.

There should be increased state consideration regarding support for special populations in online and digital learning programs. Adequately trained staff, teachers and student support personnel are critical to effective digital learning for all types of students. The department should develop program standards for serving special populations of students engaged in digital learning.

Other Statutes in Support of Student Eligibility for Digital Learning

MS 126C.15: In 2012, the Minnesota legislature passed an amendment to MS 126C.15 Basic Skills Revenue; Compensatory Education Revenue, that explicitly states that basic skills revenue should meet the needs of students who enroll under-prepared to learn, by including: "instructional materials, <u>digital learning</u>, and technology appropriate for meeting the individual needs of these learners."

This allows compensatory education revenue to be used in support of the assurance of mastery statute that supports students who have not mastered state academic standards.

Student Access

"All students have access to high quality digital content and online courses."¹⁵

The following metrics were suggested by the DLN! 2010 Report for student access:

- Digital learning environments, including online and blended-learning schools, courses, and models, have flexibility with class-size restrictions and student-teacher ratios.
- No school district may restrict student enrollment in full-time online school or in an individual online courses through enrollment caps or geographic boundaries.
- All students can enroll in an unlimited number of individual online courses.¹⁶

State policies that limit access can potentially create barriers at a time when technology provides unprecedented pathways to high quality learning opportunities. Restricting access based on geography or where a student lives is not logical when considering that learning that can occur anywhere and anytime.

Minnesota has created policy parameters around online learning access with the caveat that requirements can be waived by student request and agreements between the enrolling school district and the online programs. The parameters were created in 2005

¹⁵ Digital Learning Now! 2010

¹⁶ Digital Learning Now! 2010

when very little research or evidence existed that supported unrestricted access to online learning and resident districts were wary of the loss of local student enrollment.

In the Online Learning Option Act MS 124D.095 it is clear that no school district or charter school may prohibit a student from applying to enroll in online learning. Online learning providers that are approved by the state may enroll students from any geographic area in the state.

Students may access full time online schools or take a portion of their courses online while remaining enrolled in their local school district. An online learning student may enroll in part time online learning courses equal to a maximum of 50 percent of the student's full schedule of courses per term during a single school year. However, a student may exceed the supplemental online learning registration limit if the enrolling district permits supplemental online learning enrollment above the limit, or if the enrolling district and the online learning provider agree to the additional instructional services. If a student exceeds full time status through online learning, they may enroll in additional courses with the online learning provider under a separate agreement that includes terms for paying any tuition or course fees.

Students also have a right to complete course work at a grade level that is different from the student's current grade level through a state approved online learning provider.

With regards to class size, there is a requirement that a teacher providing online learning instruction must not instruct more than 40 students in any one online learning course or program. However, the commissioner can waive this class size cap. This gives an online program both a reasonable guideline and the option to request a waiver through the department of education.

Recommendation:

Although the state has developed clear policy and guidelines for approved online learning providers, little is known about blended learning access by students at their local schools.

The state should conduct a survey of current practices and policies that local schools have implemented with regards to student access to digital learning. The survey should require districts to identify home internet access, mobile computing devices that students have access to and the interest, engagement and outcomes of students in blended and digital courses.

Personalized Learning

If experience, research, and common sense teach nothing else, they confirm the truism that people learn at different rates, and in different ways with different subjects.

Prisoners of Time: Report of the National Education Commission on Time and Learning ¹⁷

Current statues and rules that tie school funding to attendance and membership hours (seat-time) and traditional calendars inhibit the potential for personalization that digital learning provides.

To accomplish the goal of digital learning that gives learners an element of control over the time, place, path, or pace of their learning, their educational experience must be personalized. Learning expands to any hour of the day and any place, unbounded by the start and end time of the school day or the beginning and end of semesters or the school year. Students can slow down and spend as much time as needed to master content and develop skills. Students who need more time can take it and/or get additional tutoring while gaining confidence and competencies. High achieving students can proceed without boredom and accelerate academically.

Time has long been the constant and learning the variable. The opposite should be true and with today's technology and digital instructional resources, learners no longer have to be prisoners of time. Boundaries set by statute that limit learning to a set number of days per year and define the number of hours of instruction do not acknowledge that time spent in school is not entirely focused on learning and time spent outside of school is critical to improving student outcomes. Flexible scheduling acknowledges that students have unique learning styles and optimal learning times. To mitigate the cost of extending the school year, states could provide digital content 365 days of the year but limit instructional support to shorter timeframes. With online assessments and asynchronous review of learner competencies, students can submit work and take assessments when they are prepared and ready rather than on a schedule that may not be a good match for them.

Lastly, students can experience learning in a format they will find in college and in the workplace with the expectation that they are continually learning through a variety of school and nonschool activities. Through personalized digital education students "own" their learning by helping to build their learning plan and become self-directed through guidance from teachers serving as learning coaches and facilitators. With blended learning, student can learn online or in a computer-based environment part of the day and in a site-based classroom interacting with their teacher one-to-one or in small groups for another segment of the day.

In a 2010 report from the Personalized Learning Symposium, representatives from education, government and business identified five essential elements to personalized learning:

- 1. Flexible, Anytime/Everywhere Learning
- 2. Redefine Teacher Role

¹⁷ *Prisoners of Time* (2005 reprint of the 1994 report), Report of the National Education Commission on Time and Learning, (2005), Retrieved May 2013 from: http://www.ed.gove/pubs/PrisonersOfTime/index.html

- 3. Project-based, Authentic Learning
- 4. Student Driven Learning Path
- 5. Mastery/Competency-Based Progression/Pace¹⁸

Technologies now exist to bring personalized learning to scale through education systems that help learners customize their education to achieve their full potential. This involves moving beyond the current mass production model of education. Marginal reforms in education policy that inhibit personalized digital learning may not be sufficient to make an effective paradigm shift to provide all students with a personalized learning system.

Fundamentally the move toward personalized learning involves a redefinition of the use of time (Carnegie Unit and school calendar), performance-based, flexible state assessments (page 27), equity in access to technology infrastructure (page 37), funding models that incentivize performance (page 41) and a P-20 continuum that is based on non-graded advancement.¹⁹

Examples of innovative personalized learning programs and policies emerging elsewhere provide a glimpse at possibilities for digital learning in Minnesota.

Model Programs

Reinventing Schools Coalition (RISC) Colorado and Alaska

Adams 50 School District in Colorado dramatically changed teaching and learning by allowing students to work through 10 different learning levels at their own pace following the RISC model. Students of varying ages work together on a particular skill or project. Struggling students can access a variety of activates and learn at their own pace. Students who are advanced can accelerate. Outcomes were encouraging: reading and math scores rose and discipline problems decreased by 40%.

The original RISC model grew out of an initiative in Chugach, Alaska and has spread to schools in California, Montana, New York, Maine and South Carolina and includes the following characteristics:

- Students become leaders of their learning process.
- Teachers become facilitators and partners.
- Low-level knowledge/skills is not enough, and students must demonstrate a much higher mastery level.
- The pathway from level to level and to graduation is transparent to all stakeholders.

¹⁸ Innovate to Educate: System (Re)Design for Personalized Learning, A Report from the 2010 Symposium, (2010) Retrieved June 2013 from:

http://www.ccsso.org/Resources/Publications/Innovate_to_Educate_System_ReDesign_for_Personalized_Lea rning_-_A_Report_from_the_2010_Symposium.html

¹⁹ Innovate to Educate (2010)

 Learning is the constant and time variable with students moving at their own pace.²⁰

A videoclip of students talking about performance-based digital learning through RISC at Lindsay High School is available on YouTube: http://youtu.be/Tqv9LIZRAFc

School of One, New York City

The School of One is based on unbundling the learning process based on each student's learning style and responses to specific instructional techniques. Teams of teachers work in varying combinations, with methods and student groups or individually to address the needs of each student by developing a unique, personalized daily learning "playlist". The playlist of each student combines various instructional approaches and strategies that analyze student learning styles, preferences and daily assessments. Each day the "playlist" changes based on a computer-generated algorithm/recommendation and ongoing teacher evaluations of what is making a difference and what is needed for student progress.

The School of One implements personalized digital learning by:

- adopting a student-centered learning paradigm;
- shifting the role of solo teacher to being part of a team that works with a larger cohort of students, but provides more one-to-one and small group time with whomever needs it;
- capitalizing on technology to match students with resources, instructional strategies, while addressing different learning preferences, providing more time on task, adjusting student pace and providing multiple pathways;
- utilizing adaptive computer assessments to power algorithms key to the daily, real-time development of playlists, which are the focal point for personalization for each student.

Big Picture Model: Providence (RI) Metropolitan Career and Technical School The Big Picture Model in Providence, Rhode Island requires that students plan their personalized program with their families and communities by providing opportunities for internships two days per week. The use of technology and community resources provides additional learning opportunities unbounded by the school day, school calendar or location of learning. The Big Picture Model has expanded to over 60 schools across the country and even though many students are identified as "at-risk", the majority of students enter college upon graduation.

The Big Picture Model reflects the following elements of personalized learning:

- Supports any place, any time and everywhere learning;
- Redefines student success;
- Applies what is known about when and how students learn best;

²⁰ Re-inventing Schools Coalition, Retrieved June 2013: http://www.reinventingschools.org/

- Integration of various approaches to access, acquire and reinforce knowledge and skills;
- New roles for learning facilitators and leaders;

Examples from Other States

New Hampshire

In 2005, New Hampshire became the first state to eliminate the Carnegie Unit. The three policy goals in making this change included:

- 1. Creating real-world learning opportunities and anytime, everywhere learning;
- 2. Meeting the Governor's challenge to improve high school graduation rates and have zero dropouts by 2012;
- 3. Raising the compulsory age for K-12 education from 16 to 18 years old.

The initial policy provided for credit flexibility but almost no school districts took advantage of this opportunity to transform how we measure learning. A transitional plan replaced credit flexibility that would shift to a competency-based system. The initial regulations were put in place in 2005 with 3 years (by 2008-09) for school districts to move from a time-based system to a mastery-based system of required competencies and eliminating seat-time policies by 2008. The principle of the approach is to put into practice three concepts: personalization, students as active learners and choice and flexibility for where and when learning occurs.

Lessons learned from New Hampshire include the importance of having an "innovation center", the Concord Area Center for Educational Support helping schools redesign and clarify both core and crosscutting academic competencies. Analysis of the systematic change to-date points to areas that need work or they might have done differently. In hindsight they would have including higher education in a P-20 approach to education policy reform, required a personalized learning plan for all students and faced the challenges differently of moving from a traditional calendar and scheduling to anytime, everywhere learning.

New Hampshire has organized a commission to create a white paper to discuss what a competency-based personalized digital learning system will look like in the future.

Florida: Combining Personalized Digital Learning with Performance-based Funding In Florida, under the open enrollment policy, students at Florida Virtual High School (FLVS) can register and begin courses any day of the year. This allows students to advance based on mastery. Students move at their own pace by working one to one with online teachers. FLVS by law only gets paid when students complete a course through a performance-based funding model.

In 2011, Florida policy has opened up this flexible digital learning option by requiring that all medium and large school districts offer 3 different online learning options to K-12 students and small districts must offer at least one option.

Michigan Seat Time Waiver

In 2010 Michigan passed legislation enabling seat time waivers to districts that want to provide flexible attendance options to students in order to access online learning and other learning opportunities without attending a school facility. The seat time waiver allows continuous advancement towards grade progression and graduation without being at school on a daily basis. It includes a provision for additional courses to be taken beyond full time status through either alternative education programs or "another innovative program" approved by the Department. Rules and regulations can be waived if student outcomes are improved and the instruction is delivered in a more "effective, efficient, and economical manner".²¹

Other states are studying and experimenting with the instructional year as confounding pressures to control costs conflict with the need to increase student outcomes. Below are some of the ways that states have tried as potential approaches. Most states are still grappling with the number of "official" instructional hours and days.

Massachusetts makes competitive grants available through the Expanded Learning Time Initiative for schools seeking to increase the instructional year by 300 hours.

Washington has implemented grade-span specific requirements targeting more time for certain grades.

Maryland directs the state board to explore using innovative scheduling models in low performing and at-risk schools.

North Carolina in 2011 created a Blue Ribbon Commission to Study the Current Length of the School Year. A special focus will be on summer learning loss, the achievement gap and post secondary remediation rates.

Colorado's Expanded Learning Opportunities. Perhaps the most open approach is occurring in Colorado with the Expanded Learning Opportunities Commission which was directed to "create a vision for student learning that incorporates a blend of traditional and online learning, expands the school day and standard yearly calendar and re-thinks the traditional school experience...through collaborations and partnership with community-based organizations, the business community an higher education". ²² The 2010 report has encouraged policy changes including the support for personalized learning systems based on each student's needs and interests to customize learning opportunities both in and out of school contexts. The Colorado Legacy Foundation has several initiatives to support schools pursuing the expanded learning opportunity vision

²¹ Michigan Department of Education, Pupil Accounting Manual, 50B Seat Time Waiver, Retrieved June 2013: http://www.michigan.gov/documents/mde/5-0-B_SeatTimeWaivers_329678_7.pdf

²² Colorado's Expanded Learning Opportunities Commission Report 2010: Beyond Walls, Clocks and Calendars, Retrieved June 2013 from: http://colegacy.org/resource/the-expanded-learning-opportunitiescommission-beyond-walls-clocks-and-calendars/

including Colorado Legacy Schools that provide advanced learning opportunities in STEM areas of study.

Recommendations:

1. Learning time and format must vary with needs of students.

Digital learning can help ease the pressure of on-site time by incorporating wellsupported flexible, anytime, anywhere models in which learning time is determined by the student and teacher. Different populations of students require different amounts of time to achieve proficiency. School structures, programs and funding should support time variable education.

This would involve shifting to a flexible school year and eliminating seat-time based attendance and replacing it with credits and competencies earned based on progress and performance. The Digital Learning Council should study the policy changes in New Hampshire's Competency-based Learning system and Colorado's Expanded Learning Options program.

Minnesota Statutes that suggest steps towards personalization include the following:

- MS 123B.04 Site Based Decision-Making Agreement; Individualized Learning Agreement (personalized learning plans are implemented)
- MS 124D.095 Online Learning Option Act (allows for school choice at the course level)
- MS 124D.10 Charter Schools (regulations are created to incentivize innovation and personalization of education)
- MS 124D.126 Flexible Learning Year (allows for flexible calendar and school day)
- MS 124D,128 Learning Year Program to Provide Instruction Throughout Year (allowed for acceleration to graduation with personal learning plans prior to 2013)
- Chapter Law 263: Innovative Delivery of Education Services and Sharing of District Resources: Pilot Project

The best and emerging practices from policies included in these education programs should be studied and a broader implementation made possible with an overarching policy to establish innovative programs and support expanded learning opportunities.

2. Incentivize Innovations. Support Research & Development "laboratory" programs to demonstrate that digital learning through expanded learning time and personalized learning improves student outcomes. The criteria for innovation should foster creative solutions by lifting mandates, reporting and review requirements.

Example 1: Allow high quality online programs to offer independent study courses in fully online or blended formats to support credit recovery and acceleration to graduation.

Example 2: Implement blended career academies with community, higher education institutions and business partnerships. Educational service agencies and other regional networks could be hubs of innovation and provide oversight to new paradigms. An

example of this is HighSTEP Health Career Academy offered through South Central Service Cooperative.²³

• New statute: Create and fund a nonprofit organization to stimulate and provide oversight to new innovative schools and programs. Model this after the Colorado Legacy Foundation.

3. Address cost factors. School finance and entrenched cultures are the driving forces in many barriers to redesigning learning time, pathways and opportunities. Examples of cost-effective models of rethinking learning time include:

Staggered or flex staff schedules.: Allow for multiple shifts of teachers to cover a longer day and/or year without increasing the total teaching staff. Or allow for flexible use of time during the day through blended learning, flexible learning labs, various formats of instruction and academic coaching.

Reconsider transportation aid. If getting to school means that a student must "telecommute" using a computer and Internet, isn't the lack of broadband access and devices similar to leaving them at the bus stop and not transporting them to school? A shift in how we think about transportation and "getting to school" could involve applying traditional transportation aid to educational "telecommuting" aid which would support 24/7 mobile computing devices and internet access.

Transportation Statutes: 124D.09 Subd 22, 124D.08 Subd 2a 123B.92 Transportation aid entitlement.

4. Online teacher presence - Incentivize online teaching and digital learning by investing in methods for teachers to have an online presence in a digital classroom that gives students and teachers around the clock access to communication with each other, global resources, interactive activities, frequent formative and summative assessments and opportunities for collaboration beyond the school building.

5. Partnerships - Build digital and real-time connections to community-based organizations, higher education and/or businesses to enhance educational programs and provide additional resources to support personalized digital learning.

MS 124D.90 encourages public/private partnership in support of delivery of academic programs and was established in 1995 with biennial appropriations of \$500,000 in both 1995 and 1997. No further appropriation was made to the program after that time therefore the program exists in statute but is essentially suspended without funding. MS 124D.94 created the Minnesota Academic Excellence Foundation (MAEF) to promote academic excellence in Minnesota public and nonpublic schools and communities through public-private partnerships. This organization is still in existence despite not having money appropriated to it for a number of years. These statutes should be

²³ High-STEP Academy, Retrieved June 2013 from: http://mnscsc.org/Programs-Services/Partnerships/Benefits-To-Students.aspx

²⁴ A Review of State Laws and Rules and Policy Recommendations Related to Digital Learning

updated allowing for funding for academic programs and excellence supported through digital learning by encouraging public-private partnerships.

MS 124D.90 School Enrichment Partnership Program MS 124D.94 Minnesota Academic Excellence Foundation

Advancement

Students should progress based on demonstrated competency and not grade levels or age. It has been shown that instructional "batched" pacing aimed at the middle of the class is too fast for some and too slow for other students.²⁴ This results in student disengagement or boredom, which impacts motivation and confidence.

Minnesota's statute that permitted both acceleration and credit recovery in MS 124D.128 Learning Year Programs was modified by the 2013 legislature by removing the option for acceleration. Another statute that gives leeway to schools for granting "credit" is MS 120B.018, which allows credit to be granted by demonstration of attainment of content. Again in 120B.14 advanced academic credit permits students to earn credit based on attending an accelerated or advanced academic course.

Additionally Minnesota passed the early graduation scholarship program in 2012, which provides a scholarship in the amount of \$2,500 for each semester a student graduates early. It disallows using extended time programs (alternative learning or learning year programs) to accelerate and qualify for the scholarship. Students accelerating to graduation must find their own means to earn additional course credits.

Examples from Other States

Untethering student advancement (and related student funding) from seat time happens through one of three ways:, credit flexibility, waivers or systematic redesign. We have had waivers (rigorous course of study waiver, credits earned in the postsecondary enrollment option program) and credit flexibility with project-based learning and course completion models. These models are temporary and uneven approaches, which require review, approval and reporting that inhibit effective implementation. A better solution is to transition to a competency-based model where students advance when they have mastered content.

As noted in the previous section, New Hampshire has moved to a new competencybased education system and done away with credits, Carnegie units and seat-time requirements. A complete redesign is necessary eventually if digital learning is to be fully implemented. This system will tie student progression and funding to demonstrated student outcomes at the content/course level and allow students to progress based on individual achievements. It also has the potential to link student outcomes to providers for greater accountability.

²⁴ Prisoners of Time, (2005), Reprint of the 1994 Report of the National Education Commission on Time and Learning, The Education Commission of the States Education Reform Reprint Series.

Recommendations

1. Create a competency-based innovation zone for expanded learning opportunities to allow for flexible advancement in three phases:

Phase one: Review all the statutes that suggest that advancement could possibly occur in other ways than the Carnegie unit and average daily membership (attendance) at a traditional school program. Include review of project-based learning aid and course completion models.

The statutes include the following:

MS 120B.021 Required Academic Standards Subd. 1a. Rigorous course of study; waiver MS 120B.07 Early Graduation MS 120B.08 Early Graduation Achievement Scholarship Program MS 120B.14 Advanced Academic Credit. Makes allowance for granting credit for students attending an accelerated or advanced academic course... MS 123B.04 Site Based Decision-Making Agreement; Individualized Learning Agreement MS 124D.09 Postsecondary Enrollment Option MS 124D.095 Online Learning Option Act MS 124D.10 Charter Schools MS 124D.128 Learning Year Program to Provide Instruction Throughout the Year MS 126C.05 Learning Year pupil units: Independent Study - Subd 15iv

Phase two: Place all options for students to advanced based on competency under one statute, "expanded learning opportunities; competency-based advancement" which waives attendance and seat-time requirements, calendar year, grade and age-based progression and does not require completion of a specific amount of instructional time to earn the competency/credit. This in effect would eliminate the Carnegie unit to measure learning progression.

Phase three: Create a competency-based education system such as New Hampshire in conjunction with a P-20 continuum of non-grade banded advancement. Each student would have a daily "playlist" of learning activities and assessments, advance based on demonstrated proficiency and have a personal learning plan that follows them as they progress that is co-created with their teachers.

2. High stakes state assessments should be available when students are prepared to take them to accelerate student learning and allow progression. With online assessments and advanced student data systems, there is capability to take tests at variable times of the year. *Revise MS 120B.30 Statewide Testing and Reporting System*

II. Assessment: Measure what Matters Most

Our education system at all levels will leverage the power of technology to measure what matters and use assessment data for continuous improvement.²⁵

Statutes Addressing Assessment

MS 120B Curriculum and Assessment
MS 120B.023 Minnesota K-12 Academic Standards
MS 120B.125 Planning for students' Successful Transition to Postsecondary Education and
Employment; Involuntary Career Tracking Prohibited.
MS 120B.30 Statewide Testing and Reporting System (The Commissioner shall determine the testing process and the order of administration)
MS 120B.31 System Accountability and Statistical Adjustments
MS 120B.35 Student Academic Achievement and Growth
MS 123B.06 Evaluation of Pupil Growth and Progress; Permanent Records
MS 124D.095 Online Learning Option Act Subd. 7: Department of Education

Education has often measured quality by inputs (teacher licensure, preparation, quality of content, program approvals and requirements) or outputs (student tests and assessments). As we move into digital learning environments, more emphasis should be placed on outcomes. Outcomes include reaching or extending beyond proficiency, individual student academic growth, preparedness for college and careers, closing the achievement gap and increasing graduation rates.

A new model of assessment requires better ways to measure what matters, diagnose strengths and weaknesses during learning and involve multiple stakeholders in the process of designing, conducting and using assessments. Continuous improvement across the education system is possible when data from technology-based assessments help drive decisions of what is best for each and every student.

Yet all the outcome metrics currently in place for the most part look at aggregates of students to indicate how schools, programs and teachers are doing. With digital technology two important goals can be realized when assessing student learning:

Formative assessment as a learning process. Real time, instant feedback is possible within many content management systems that loop students back into content and skills that need further attention. Additionally it enables students to reach competency or mastery levels before moving on. Assessment becomes a learning tool and can be effectively implemented using digital technologies. Adaptive release of assessment and content will dramatically change the learning, teaching and assessment landscape of digital education.

These ongoing, formative assessments should be used in the classroom "in the course

²⁵ National Education Technology Plan 2010

of learning when there is still time to improve student performance, and involving multiple stakeholders in the process of designing, conducting and using assessment."²⁶

Digital learning personalizes assessment. It provides the opportunity for assessment to be varied by using analytics to help discern what is working for individual students and adjusts strategies based on the data collected. Personalized learning digital portfolios, in which the students are involved in creating, maintaining and directing goals, assists in guiding the student toward providing articulation of competencies.

Multiple measures of learning could be included in the student digital portfolios as well as student individual growth. This disaggregation of student outcome data with a personalized record will give the student a better understanding of mastery attainment and provide their teachers with more comprehensive information about their learning progressions.

Recommendation:

1. Assessment time and format. Allow digital content assessments to occur at the time learning has taken place. Provide flexibility when students are assessed by capitalizing on flexible online assessment systems. Allow for alternative assessments of gained academic standards (beyond those provided to students with disabilities).

2. Accountability tied to student outcome. Focus accountability for all schools, including virtual schools, on student outcomes. Support statewide data systems that can disaggregate data based on the course, instructor, delivery format and other factors that contribute to positive student outcomes.

3. Special populations. Address accountability challenges related to unique student populations. Student programs and funding should support students who will need additional programs and services. Digital learning can aid in this process if the regulations are eased to allow it to be provided.

4. Data collection. Improve data collection and oversight systems to fit the delivery method and capacity for digital learning. Data should reflect individual student achievement and be available frequently to the teacher to inform instruction. Link data systems to formative assessments for real time feedback to teachers and students.

5. Accountability tied to programs, teachers and other factors. Improve accountability links to providers, teachers and other factors. Disclose external partners (providers of curriculum, learning and data management systems, administrative services, student information systems) and measure their contributions to student learning. Develop new measures of effectiveness to capitalize on available data including accounting of the "reach" of excellent teachers and teaching.

²⁶ Transforming American Education Learning Powered by Technology, National Education Technology Plan, 2010, U.S. Department of Education, Office of Educational Technology.

6. Accountability of teacher preparation programs. Tie student data to teacher preparation programs to hold them accountable as well. Consider threshold activity requirements for adults in virtual schools.

7. Low performing digital learning programs. Ramp up consequences attached to low performance without stifling innovation. Growth of digital learning programs needs to be contingent on performance. The state should allow for innovation but close persistently low performing fully online schools. Consider funding incentives for fully online schools that show strong results. Encourage serving the most disadvantaged students well in any performance-based funding system.

8. Portfolio Assessment. Continue efforts to provide a K-20 digital portfolio of accomplishment and competencies for each individual learner. This digital portfolio provides various evidence of assessment and mastery, including narrative competency assessment, final grades and "badges of mastery" as well as community contributions and leadership demonstrated by students.

9. Support innovative school programs that allow new perspectives on pathways to competency in 21st century skills including "cross cutting" competencies²⁷ such as ability to work with others, communication skills, decision making and problem-solving, information use: research and technology, self management.

²⁷ Course level competencies and models, New Hampshire Department of Education, Retrieved June 2013, from: http://www.education.nh.gov/innovations/hs_redesign/competencies.htm

III. Quality Teaching: Prepare and Connect

Digital instruction and teachers are high quality²⁸

Digital learning eliminates the barriers that separate great teachers from students wanting to learn. Teacher preparation and professional development should educate teachers and administrators to engage students, teach online, personalize learning and manage learning platforms. Teachers need to be trained and certified based on demonstrated performance whether they plan to teach in the on-site, blended or online classroom. Finally, state or even national borders should not limit access to quality educators.

Digital learning is a model that requires a shift to "connected teaching"²⁹ using technologies and new pedagogies to effectively facilitate learning. This allows teachers to work closely together in teams that replace solo practitioners through 24/7 access to students, colleagues, data and analytical tools in order to teach more efficiently and improve academic outcomes. By using technology to better inform the learning process and create efficiencies the profession of teaching becomes enhanced and elevated, thereby attracting strong and effective educators to the field.

Statutes Ad	dressing Quality Teaching
MS 122A	Teachers and Other Educators
MS 122A.05	- 122A.09 Board of Teaching
MS 122A.18	Technology strategies Subd. 3a. (2012) digital and blended learning: teacher preparation (June 30, 2014)
MS 122A.21	Teachers' and Administrators' Licenses; Fees Subd. 2 Licensure via portfolio.
MS 120A.22	Compulsory Instruction Subd. 10. Requirements for instructors
MS 122A.23	Applicants Trained in Other States
MS 122A.25	Non licensed Community Experts; Variance
MS122A.245	Alternative Teacher Preparation
MS 122A.41	3 Educational Improvement Plan
MS 122A.60	Effective staff development activities Subd. 1a (2012)
	digital and blended learning staff development
MS 122A.60	Staff development outcomes subd3 (2012)
	digital & blended learning staff development plan
MS 124D.09	5 Online Learning Option Subd 4d & e
014	Eventining and Linguish Decade
214	Examining and Licensing Boards
8700.7500	Code of Ethics for Minnesota Leachers
8700.7600	Institutional Program Approval for Teacher Preparation
8700.7620	leacher Licensure Candidate Assessment Alternative
	(as recommended by the BOT or Commissioner)

²⁸ Digital Learning Now! Element 6, 2010

²⁹ National Education Technology Plan, 2010

The Digital Learning Now Report of 2011³⁰ recommends the following elements of quality instruction as policy changes. They have been discussed and reviewed by the Minnesota Online Learning Advisory Council. We believe that Minnesota has taken significant state policy actions to address quality instruction in K-12 education. To assure that all barriers to quality instruction are lifted, the below state policy guidelines from the DLN report and several additional considerations should be reviewed and considered by state policymakers:

- The state should encourage post-secondary institutions with teacher preparation programs to offer targeted digital instruction training.
- The state should ensure that teachers have professional development or training to better utilize technology and understand key pedagogies to be most effective in a digital classroom.
- The state provides alternative certification routes, including online instruction and performance-based certification.
- The state should consider licensure and certification reciprocity for online instructors certified by another state.

Examples from Other States and Programs

Teacher Preparation and Professional Development

Leading Edge Certification (LEC) is a national certification program in educational technology and curriculum innovation. Created by an alliance of nonprofits, universities and educational agencies, LEC is the first national certification program of its kind, and is platform and vendor neutral. There are five (5) areas of certification offered by LEC: online and blended teacher, administrator, digital educator, teacher librarian and leading educator (professional developer). LEC is located in California.

http://www.cue.org/lec

EdTech Leaders Online (ETLO) is a subdivision of Education Development Center (EDC) a renowned nonprofit research and development educational organization for over 50 years. ETLO provides training for online and blended teachers as well as over 70 online courses and workshops. They have partnered with Antioch University to offer college credit for their programs. ETLO is located in Massachusetts.

http://edtechleaders.org/

Boise State University offers professional development to teachers and online programs with whom they collaborate. They offer a graduate certificate program in online teaching and are an approved provider for the online teaching endorsement that the state requires.

http://edtech.boisestate.edu

³⁰ Digital Learning Now! 2011

Plymouth State University collaborates with Virtual High School (VHS) of Massachusetts to offer VHS teachers and staff a variety of professional development. http://www.govhs.org/Pages/ProfDev-Home

University of Texas at Austin has designed the UTeach program to bring more math and science majors into teaching. Early in their coursework, UTeach pre-service teachers use technology in blended class formats. In the courses the pre-service teachers use instructional technology in their content area to both experience and practice teach in a digital learning format.

https://uteach.utexas.edu/

Florida Virtual School, one of the oldest statewide online schools in the country, has training materials for school counselors and site facilitators working with FLVS. Both pre-service and practicing teachers use the resources they have developed.

http://www.flvs.net/products_services/p_s_course_demos.php

Other states use a variety of approaches to train teachers to teach in a digital classroom including funding professional development through a state or regional virtual school (Michigan), securing federal grants to fund online professional development (Massachusetts) or a state-funded mandate (Idaho and California) that directs a statewide organization to provide the training.

In Minnesota the professional development for digital teachers occurs within online programs, at the district level, by service agencies or training centers and/or through colleges. Several training providers have partnered with area colleges to grant college credit for professional development courses in digital teaching. Since the new state requirements have passed in 2012, it is not clear how colleges and organizations or schools offering staff development training will be addressing the mandates.

Extending the Reach of Quality Teaching

Several states are using digital learning to address teacher shortages and provide quality training and instruction. Louisiana Virtual School offers teachers onsite and online training so they can assist with virtual mathematics courses under the supervision of a licensed mathematics teacher. This has enabled content experts to have an alternative route to licensure while gaining critical digital teaching experience.

Another example is in the area of providing special services to students in remote areas of a state. Many rural schools are unable to employ a full-time speech therapist. Using new software and internet connections, students and speech therapists can connect virtually allowing professionals to work with their students and provide instruction at a geographic distance through videoconference, interactive assessments and exercises and guided practice. The results have been positive and in some cases exceed what

an on-site speech therapist can accomplish.³¹ The promise of increased access and improved outcomes through telemedicine and telepractice has been found effective in over 40 published, peer-reviewed studies, including a landmark paper by the Mayo Clinic in 1997.³² In the 2012 Governor's Broadband Task Force report in 2012, a rural speech therapist in west central Minnesota is featured for "teleporting" into schools to work with students to improve efficiency for staff, provide flexibility for students and build a sustainable method for reaching people in rural areas of Minnesota.³³

Additionally with the proliferation of online teaching and digital learning, highly effective teachers can teach across state lines, because geographic proximity to their students is not required. The 2010 national online teacher of the year, Teresa Dove teaches math for Florida Virtual School but lives in Virginia. The students get the benefit of her highly effective teaching skills even though she has chosen to live in a rural location of another state.

Teacher Reciprocity

38 states participate in the <u>National Association of State Directors of Teacher Education</u> and <u>Certification (NASDTEC) Interstate Agreement</u>. This allows a teacher to receive a teaching license if they have completed a state approved teacher preparation program from a regionally accredited institution, or have a minimum of 27 months of successful, full-time teaching experience under a NASDTEC member state's valid Level II educator certificate.

Minnesota does not participate in this teacher reciprocity agreement. The state statute addressing teacher requirements for teachers trained in another state is MS 122A.23. This statute gives the Board of Teaching authority to develop criteria and procedures to grant a licensed teacher from another state up to three one-year teaching licenses while the teacher meets other state licensure requirements such as passing a skills test in reading, writing and mathematics as well as completing all required exams and human relations preparation components.

Field Experiences in Digital Teaching

Acceptance and use of online pre-service field experiences to meet teacher licensure requirements are now in place in both Michigan and Florida.³⁴

http://telerehab.pitt.edu/ojs/index.php/Telerehab/article/view/6064/6309

nation/Minnesota/files/tfdecember_2012_report.pdf.

³¹ Grogan-Johnson, S, Gabel, R., Taylor, Rowan, L.E, Alvares, R, Schenker, J., A Pilot Exploration of Speech Sound Disorder Intervention Delivered by Telehealth to School-Age Children, International Journal of Telerehabilitation, Vol. 3, No.1 Spring 2011, Retrieved June 2013:

 ³² Duffy, J.R., Werven G.W., Aronson, A.E., Telemedicine and the diagnosis of speech and language disorders (1997), pubmed.gov, Retrieved June 2013: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9413290?report=abstract
 ³³ Annual Report and Broadband Plan (2012), Governor's Task force on Broadband, Retrieved June 2013: http://www.connectmn.org/sites/default/files/connected-

³⁴ Patrick, S. & Dawley, L. (2009), Redefining teacher education: K-12 online-blended learning and virtual schools. Brief prepared for the Summit on Redefining Teacher Education for Digital Age Learners, Austin, TX: The University of Texas

Anecdotal evidence has indicated that some teacher preparation programs are allowing student teaching and/or field experiences with public online high schools in Minnesota. It would be beneficial for all teachers to have experience either taking an online/blended course and/or student teaching in an online environment.

Digital Teaching Certification or Endorsement Requirements

Wisconsin is one of the only states to require in statute that teachers must complete at least 30 hours of professional development designed to prepare a teacher for online teaching before being permitted to teach an online course in a public school or charter.³⁵ In 2013, the Wisconsin Legislature passed an amendment to repeal the 30 hours training requirement and "prohibits the department from imposing any such professional development requirements."³⁶

A K-12 online teaching endorsement for licensure to teach online courses has been implemented in Idaho and Georgia.³⁷ Boise State University surveyed 830 teachers nationwide with only 5% reporting having an endorsement in online education.³⁸

Minnesota added requirements for digital teaching in both pre-service and staff development statutes in 2012:

MS 120A.22 All college and university teacher preparation programs "must include in their teacher preparation programs the knowledge and skills teacher candidates need to deliver digital and blended learning and curriculum and engage students with technology" for all students entering the program in June of 2014 or later.

MS 122A.60 staff development activities must include the ability to "accommodate the delivery of digital and blended learning and curriculum and engage students with technology."

Educator Effectiveness Program

MS 122A.624 and MS 122.625 references instructional effectiveness through a Minnesota Educational Effectiveness Plan (MEEP) to be developed by the commissioner that must include "principles of instructional design and essential elements of effective instruction as determined by educational research." The goals of the program point to "creating flexible school-based organizational structures." This statute was originally created in 1983. The statute received funding in initial years (1993 - 1996), but the direct appropriation was eliminated in 1997 and the program became defunct around 2001. So although the statute remains on the books, it has not

³⁵ Wisconsin Act 222, enacted in April of 2008, states that, "Beginning July 1, 2010, no person may teach an online course in a public school, including a charter school, unless he or she has completed at least 30 hours of professional development designed to prepare a teacher for online teaching." [Wisconsin State Statute 118.19(13)]

³⁶ Wisconsin Department of Public Instruction, 2013-15 Executive Biennial Budget Request Highlights, Assembly Bill 40, Retrieved June 2013: http://bit.ly/WisconsinBiennielBudget2013-15

 ³⁷ Dawley L., Rice, K. & Hinck G., *Going Virtual 2010: The Status of Professional Development and the Unique Needs of K-12 Online Teachers*, (2010) Boise State University
 ³⁸ Going Virtual, 2010

³⁴ A Review of State Laws and Rules and Policy Recommendations Related to Digital Learning

been operational in over a decade.³⁹ Since this statute emphasizes instructional design and flexible school structures, the state should consider updating it with a focus on how digital learning and educational technology can support the goals and reinstate the school improvement incentive grants, which were provided in the original version.

Recommendations:

1. Develop a teaching force skilled in digital learning and online instruction.

Minnesota has taken a step in the right direction by adding a requirement in the law for teacher training programs and staff development outcomes that address the need for skilled digital educators.

The state could guide the development of specific skills and standards for digital teaching by directing an organization such as the Minnesota Learning Commons (MnLC) to identify the key components to this training and allow the MnLC to endorse good quality training programs to meet the requirements in the revised statutes.

MnLC in conjunction with the Board of Teaching, Minnesota Department of Education and Minnesota Association of Colleges for Teacher Education (MACTE) could develop a review process to identify quality training programs and a portfolio review process for teachers with experience teaching in a digital format. Both the review processes will enable licensed teachers to meet the requirements to have "knowledge and skills to accommodate the delivery of digital and blended learning and curriculum and engage students with technology" based on nationally recognized standards for quality digital education. Teacher education programs will be consulted as the digital teacher training is developed and implemented. Additionally teachers with two years of experience with digital teaching could submit a portfolio to a digital teacher training program endorsed by the Minnesota Learning Commons to verify that they have met the standards for quality digital teaching.

MS 122A.60 Staff Development MS 120A.22 Requirements for Instructors. MS 122A.624 Educational Effectiveness Program

2. Review alternative routes to licensure: content area experts and community specialists.

The state has several alternative strategies for teachers to attain teaching licensure including waivers, non-licensed community expert, variances and temporary licenses. These should be reviewed to be certain that further training or testing to qualify for the licenses is not limited by place or pathway. Similar to digital learning for students, we should be modeling this in the education and requirements for teachers: that their

³⁹ Information received via email from Daron Korte, Director of Government Relations, Minnesota Department of Education on June 25, 2012

learning can be "facilitated by technology that offers students an element of control over the time, place, path or pace of their learning and includes blended and online learning."

By having an updated and comprehensive alternative certification program, we can improve teacher quality by opening up the profession to well educated, qualified and mature individuals with subject area expertise and life experiences.

Consider allowing programs other than Schools of Education to train content specialists to become licensed teachers. High Tech High in California has been granted licensing authority by the State of California to train and license teachers uniquely qualified to teach in the educational paradigm of the school⁴⁰.

MS 122A.245 Alternative Teacher Preparation

3. Certification Reciprocity

Review the current statute on state licensure reciprocity to consider how highly effective online teachers licensed in other states might be qualified to teach in Minnesota public school programs. By removing geographic considerations our state has an opportunity to expand its teaching force by qualifying the best prepared and most experienced online teachers regardless of location of licensure or teacher residence.

MS 122A.23 Applicants Trained in Other States

4. Encourage acceptance and use of online and digital learning pre-service field experiences

Recommend to Schools of Education that criteria be established for pre-service teachers to have an experience student teaching in digital classrooms. Encourage an experience of digital teaching as a component of the pre-service field experience.

5. Digital Curriculum in Support of Teaching

Support access to content and tools by funding development of digital curriculum, which would expand opportunities for educators to have access to technology-based content, resources and tools where and when they need them. Once these open education courses are developed and made available statewide, teachers can focus on digital teaching and learning utilizing and customizing the units of instruction that are aligned to Minnesota academic standards.

The state would save millions of dollars redundantly spent on static instructional materials by investing instead in teacher-designed digital curriculum available to all Minnesota teachers, in addition to providing training in instructional design, a skill that will be critical for the teachers of today and tomorrow.

⁴⁰ High Tech High Educator Training, Retrieved June 16, 2013, http://www.hightechhigh.org/about/educator_training.php

IV. Infrastructure: Digital Learning Delivery

All students and educators will have access to a comprehensive infrastructure for learning when and where they need it.⁴¹

Statutes Relevant to Infrastructure and Digital Learning Delivery				
MS 123B	School District Powers and Duties			
MS 124D.095	Online Learning Option Act			
MS125B.05	State Information System: created in 1980 and not updated since 2003			
MS 123B.35	Public School Fees			
MS 125B.02	State Goals for Technological Advances in Education (last updated 1998)			
MS 125B.15	Internet Access for Students			
MS 125B.26	Telecommunications/Internet Access Equity Aid			

Overview

If digital learning is to realize its full potential, all students and educators must have access to a comprehensive infrastructure for learning when and where they need it. Studies have shown that one-to-one computer access at school for students is only part of the picture. Having high speed broadband internet outside of school and with a mobile device 24/7 is essential for teaching and learning in the 21st century.

A key principle of any educational infrastructure is that it fundamentally involves people, processes, learning resources, policies and sustainable models for continuous updates and improvements. Within that principle, we must consider broadband connectivity, software, management systems, servers and other technical tools. Building and sustaining a digital learning infrastructure will take contributions and involvement from many sectors, including K-12 and higher education institutions, business and government. Thus the work of the Governor's Broadband Taskforce must guide the collaborative work that is necessary to ensure delivery of digital learning to all students, teachers and schools in the state.

The critical components involving access enabling digital learning delivery include:

- 1. **A plan**. School leaders and teachers should have a clearly articulated digital learning plan that includes goals, objectives, learning outcomes, new pedagogies, and innovative instructional practices and assessments.
- 2. **Mobile devices**. Students should have access 24/7 to their own mobile computing devices just as they would have access to a textbook.
- 3. **Broadband at school.** Wireless high speed internet should be available in all areas of school facilities.
- 4. **Broadband at home.** High speed internet outside of school.

⁴¹ National Education Technology Plan, 2010

- Access in homes. A recent study has shown that, as of October 2012, 81% of Minnesotans have access to broadband at 10Mbps download and 3 Mbps upload.
- b. Adoption by families. More problematic is even if some families have access to high speed broadband, they choose not to subscribe. According to the 2011 Connect Minnesota Residential Survey the major reasons cited by nonsubscribers were cost, outdated computer equipment and no content worth viewing. The Center for Rural Policy and Development estimates that only 75.4% of households in outstate Minnesota have chosen to adopt high speed internet.⁴²
- 5. **Cost Considerations.** Funding infrastructure requires a demonstration that cost savings can be realized and reinforces shifts in funding allocations to support digital learning.

Examples from other States and Communities

Colorado (EAGLE-net) has supported a statewide broadband initiative to support internet connectivity to reach all citizens and schools.

Tennessee's K-12 Network was the first statewide K-12 broadband connection in the U.S. established in 1996. It provides a robust infrastructure to all K-12 schools and libraries and delivers services that make possible sharing of tools and resources regardless of location, enabling students to access a 21st century learning environment.

ConnectKentucky is a statewide public/private partnership created to "accelerate the growth of technology in support of community and economic development, improved healthcare, enhanced education and more effective government"⁴³

Some local communities are creating their own municipal broadband networks as an alternative to slow services offered by cable and telephone companies. For more than 10 years Thomasville, Georgia has been providing this service. This is in response to sluggish service from companies who don't feel their investment would be worth bringing broadband to small communities.

Recommendations:44

Outdated Educational Technology Statutes.

Many of the following educational technology statutes were last updated over 15 years ago (1998).

⁴² Minnesota Adoption Rate 2010-2012, Center for Rural Policy and Development, St. Peter, Mn,

⁴³ ConnectKentucky, Mission Statement, http://www.connectkentucky.org/about_us

⁴⁴ These recommendations are based in part on the Center for American Progress, Are Schools Getting a Big Enough Bang for Their Education Technology Buck?, June 14, 2013, Ulrich Boser, Retrieved June 15, 2013, http://www.americanprogress.org/issues/education/report/2013/06/14/66485/are-schools-getting-a-bigenough-bang-for-their-education-technology-buck/

MS 125B.02 State Goals for Technological Advances in Education: MS 125B.15 Internet Access for Students MS 125B.26 Telecommunications/Internet Access Equity Aid

This needs to be addressed by the legislature and the Digital Learning Council. The following considerations should be included in the revision process in order to maximize the potential for digital learning on student achievement.

- Establish benchmarks for bandwidth capacities that reflect the requirements of a transformed educational system reliant on digital personalized learning. Partnerships should be created that lead to creative, cost-effective solutions for achieving the benchmarks statewide. Statewide public/private initiatives and replicable models should be used to drive down costs, realize volume pricing and steadily increase capacity.
- **Digital Learning Plans.** Policymakers must do more to make sure that technology promotes key learning goals. Education technology and digital learning should give teachers and schools new ways of reaching students and delivering education. This starts with a regulatory environment that rewards new and innovative approaches. At the same time, we need to ensure that schools have the plan in place and the capacity to put digital tools in the classroom in ways that raise the bar for all students regardless of their background.
- **Digital content and e-flexbooks** should be implemented as flexible, interactive and adaptive instructional resources rather than static textbook purchases. Managing an instructional network that is dependent on digital content and electronic textbook means that it must be robust, high capacity and reliable. The state should take the lead in encouraging the replacement of textbooks with digital content, including interactive and adaptive multimedia.
- The New Digital Divide. States must aggressively address the new digital divide. The digital divide used to be between the students who had access to computers and those who did not. But times have changed, and while access remains a problem in many schools, access to digital learning opportunities is of far greater concern. In many schools, students from disadvantaged backgrounds are being given the least engaging, least promising technology-facilitated learning opportunities.
- Educational Technology and Digital Education State Leadership In order for all schools, teachers and students to be connected and have access to dynamic digital learning a senior-level individual and unit within the state education agency must ensure that digital technologies and networks connect with the core functions of curriculum, instruction and assessment, professional development and administration.
- Cost Effectiveness. Advocates must push for studies of the cost-effectiveness

of digital learning and educational technologies to assure taxpayers are getting their money's worth when it comes to technology in schools. Research shows that technology in education can raise student outcomes under certain conditions. The question now is how we can bring those outcomes to scale and at what cost. In addition to close and careful studies of digital learning's return on investment, the state should use state purchasing power to negotiate lower cost licenses and contracts for digital content and courses and support development of digital units of instruction that are aligned to Minnesota state academic standards. Lastly, investment in high speed internet and networks along with mobile technologies is an ongoing expense that must be included in operating budgets.

• Administrative management and study of digital learning. The state should ensure that local and state data systems and related applications are updated, interoperable and robust to inform longitudinal management decisions and accountability. Data systems that collect student outcome data should be tethered to digital course catalogs and student financial reporting.

V. Digital Learning: Funding and Productivity

Our education system at all levels will redesign processes and structures to take advantage of the power of technology to improve learning outcomes while making more efficient use of time, money and staff.⁴⁵

Relevant Statutes to Education Funding		
MS 123B MS 123B.35 MS 123B.36	School District Powers and Duties General Policy: Free Public Education Authorized Fees	
MS 124D MS 124D.69 MS 124D.09 MS 124D.09 MS 124D.096 MS 124D.098 MS 124D.11	Education Programs Aid for Alternative Programs Provided under Contract Postsecondary enrollment option subd 15 1 Concurrent Enrollment Funding 5 Online Learning Aid 8 Literacy Incentive Aid Revenue for a Charter School	
MS 126C MS 126C.01 MS 126C.05 MS 126C.19	Education Funding Definitions, Subd 6-8 Definition of Pupil Units (weighted by grade levels) Shared Time Aid	
290.0674	Mn Education Credit https://www.revisor.mn.gov/statutes/?id=290.0674&year=2012	

Funding Digital Learning Education Programs

School finance systems were not designed with the flexibility needed to support educational innovations such as digital learning. Students and families seek personalized alternatives to traditional, industrial model schooling such as online and blended options. Local districts and teachers are implementing digital learning to offer more customized instruction to improve student outcomes and create efficiencies. A 2008 report from the Center for Reinventing Public Education (CRPE), Facing the Future concluded after a six-year investigation that no amount of updating will fix American education finance system since it is "overloaded, can't run all the programs we have attached to it, and was never designed for things we now most need done."⁴⁶

Yet we still pay schools for student attendance, not performance. If the system could be reoriented around student learning, there would be more consistent accountability for student outcomes.

⁴⁵ National Education Technology Plan 2010

⁴⁶ Center for American Progress: The Stealth Inequities of School Funding, Retrieved June 2013 from: http://www.americanprogress.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/09/StealthInequites.pdf

Digital learning challenges the historic binding of funding with geography. Matching resources with individual student needs rather than zip code offers great promise in improving student outcomes. The concept of weighted school funding (WSF) is partially realized in Minnesota. Several states have taken this to the next level, which would allow students and families to have greater access to a myriad of educational choices unbounded by place by allowing the WSF to flow directly to the school, program and/or family rather than the district.

Digital learning can actually save money in areas such as collaborative curriculum development, professional development, facilities and transportation. As more students engage in digital learning, economies of scale will drive down costs as well. This is clearly demonstrated when districts collaborate within states to increase volume purchasing (e.g. state telecommunication networks for telecommunication services) or for development of digital units of instruction or courses (e.g. Partnership for Collaborative Curriculum and Innovative Instruction⁴⁷ and the National Repository of Online Courses⁴⁸) which become open education resources available to all public schools and students upon release.

What would a new system of funding education look like that supports digital learning? An effective school funding structure would acknowledge diverse student needs, allow dollars to follow students to where they are instructed in fractional amounts, create mechanisms for ensuring quality and incentivize educational innovation.

The following recommendations regarding school finance are design principles proposed by Digital Learning Now! in a recent publication on funding students, options and achievement.⁴⁹ and by the Fordham Foundation in a 2006 report, Fund the Child⁵⁰ on school finance.

Fortunately Minnesota has moved in the direction in several areas but the current system is inconsistent among learner option programs, reducing its potential for maximum effectiveness. A competency-based system emphasizing personalized digital learning would require an entirely different structure to deploy public funding for education. However until money follows the student based on where instruction is provided according to their need without undue restrictions, the problem of funding will be inadequately addressed.

⁴⁷ Partnership for Collaborative Curriculum and Innovative Instruction, Retrieved June 2013, http://bit.ly/innovativeinstruction

 ⁴⁸ National Repository of Online Courses, Retrieved June 2013, http://www.montereyinstitute.org/nroc/
 ⁴⁹ John Bailey, Carrie Schneider, Tom Vander Ark, Funding Students, Options, and Achievement, Digital Learning Now!, April 2013, Retrieved June 2013 from: http://www.digitallearningnow.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/Funding-Paper-Final.pdf

⁵⁰ Thomas B. Fordham Institute, *Fund the Child, Tackling Inequity and Antiquity in School Finance*, July 2006, retrieved June 2013 from:

http://www.schoolfunding.info/resource_center/media/Fordham_FundtheChild.pdf

New Design Principles

Portable. Dollars should follow the student to whatever public school program best fits their individual interests or needs. Fractional funding should also be considered for full-time or part-time options.

Minnesota has a long history of educational choice starting with postsecondary enrollment options in 1985 in providing fractional funding to the course level. This concept of funding to the course level also is available for part time online learning and state-approved alternative programs, although sub-fractional funding (less than at the course level) is only available to SAAPs.

Weighted. Funding should pay for individual students based on the factors that affect the cost of educating students of various needs, poverty levels, special needs, disabled, English Language Learners (ELL), gifted or those behind in credits. The weighted funding should be based on the real costs associated with educating these students since studies have clearly shown that some students require more resources than others.⁵¹

Minnesota has weighted student funding based on grade levels. compensatory (free and reduced lunch eligibility) and ELL, which addresses some of these needs. But the funding for the most part flows to the districts to provide services, which makes accountability disputable regarding whether students are well served. The exceptions are free and reduced lunch funding that does go directly to the school serving the qualifying students and funding for gifted programs at the school level, though it is not based on identified gifted students but on total enrollment. Additionally students who have fallen behind in credits are restricted to learning opportunities (beyond full time) only through State-Approved Alternative Learning programs (SAAPs), which often are limited to specific geographic areas, and local districts that have approved programs.

Flexible. State education finance policy should allow the local school to decide uses for funds and create greater school-level autonomy. Digital learning can take many formats and each school should be funded in ways to support the best structure for their students whether it is embedded within the traditional course, flipped classrooms, blended instruction or fully online. This includes funding at-risk students by several means when additional content or courses are needed for progression to graduation.

Minnesota school districts have begun to shift funding from within their budgets to support digital learning. There could be greater incentives built into state policy to do this by funding innovative programs, rewarding results and lifting mandates for schools creating programs that personalize digital learning. Additionally it is now possible with advancements in adaptive release curriculum to offer content recovery methods to struggling students before they fail. This additional method should be funded rather than the perverse incentive of funding students for credit recovery after they fail.

⁵¹ Funding Students, Options, and Achievement, April 2013.

Performance-based. Schools should be paid based on performance that would reward completion and student outcomes. Results rather than inputs, programs, or activities would gauge accountability. Currently traditional school districts are compensated when students show up or "attend", regardless of what or how much students learn.

Supplemental online learning in Minnesota is funded based on course completion. Among all Minnesota education programs, it is only one of two that links funding to student performance, along with the Independent Study option for extend time revenue. A third recently created program funds literacy incentive aid (MS 124.098), partly on the percentage of students proficient at third grade in reading and the percentage of students with high growth in reading from grade 3 to 4.

There are several models being introduced in other states that even the playing field on paying for student outcomes rather than attendance or seat-time and require that outcomes warrant the educational expenditure.

In the graphic below designed by Paul Hill, funding students and innovation and experimentation moves on a continuum away from mandates and standardization resulting in continuous improvement.



Evaluating School Finance Systems

Figure 2: Graphic adapted from: Hill, P. Steps in the Right Direction: Assessing "Ohio Achievement Everywhere' the Kasich Plan, Thomas B Fordham Institute, March 2013.⁵²

⁵² Hill, P. Steps in the Right Direction: Assessing "Ohio Achievement Everywhere' the Kasich Plan, Thomas B Fordham Institute, March 2013.

Examples from Other States

Weighted Student Funding to Support Digital Learning

Weighted Student Funding (WSF) acknowledges that various student characteristics require different levels of educational support. The states noted below have implemented WSF that is attached to the student or school, not at the district level, allowing for students to directly receive the educational services they need.

Hawaii implemented a WSF formula in 2006-07, based on student characteristics that impact learning and achievement.

In Utah, SB 110 requires that school districts distribute revenues to schools based on a weighted student funding (WSF) formula and gives principals more autonomy to make financial decisions at the building level.

Georgia has put in place a WSF formula under the Quality Basic Education program that funds both local districts and charter schools.

Funding School Choice Options

Four states, including Louisiana, Utah, Florida and Minnesota have permitted fractional funding that follows the student at the course level to where they are receiving instruction for online learning and learner option programs. In most cases, for part time online learning, a small portion of the general education revenue stays with the enrolling district for ongoing student support and administrative services.

Minnesota was among the first states to allow students school choice at the course level in a variety of online approved programs. Even though this option comes without restrictions, the participation rate is fairly low (1.5% of high school course enrollment). Since the education dollar follows the student, this revenue loss to the local district creates pressure to not inform or recommend online learning options to enrolled students. State policy should enforce the mandate to inform students and families about online learning option that is articulated in MS 124D.095 Subd. 6.

Perhaps the most innovative change in school choice has recently been implemented in Louisiana where each student has a course choice account. This permits families to choose how their students' public education dollars are "spent". Students may choose any course from another school or program if their enrolling district is rated D or F or can select a course not offered at their local school if the school rating is A.B or C. Both public and private schools and educational organizations may provide courses and learning experiences to families and students through the course choice account program.

Funding Based on Student Performance

Digital learning is funded in a variety of ways at the state level. In Minnesota full time online schools (statewide district programs or charter schools) are funded the same as other school districts with funding following to the district in which the student open enrolls or to a public charter school. Minnesota does not have a statewide virtual school, which in most other states delivers subsidized supplemental online learning to local students. Instead state policy has provided for local districts, charter schools or consortia of schools to become approved providers of statewide full time schools and part time online programs.

In the case of supplemental or part time online courses, the online program ("provider" in state statute) is only paid if the student completes the course. This pay for performance or course completion is intended to assure quality but in effect has had a chilling effect on programs willing to offer online instruction because the risk of not getting compensated increases when students enroll but are not prepared for the self-directedness it requires. High-risk students often gravitate toward online learning believing it will be easier when if fact it requires more active learning and participation by an individual student.

Other states have implemented graduated funding for course completion, which acknowledges that schools incur costs regardless of outcome but that student outcome is important. In Utah, the online provider receives 50 percent after the add/drop deadline and 50% upon successful completion. In Texas state funding is parsed out on a similar model with 70% going to the instructing state virtual school after the withdrawal period and 30% upon successful completion. Florida has gone the furthest in equalizing school funding based on performance by funding courses based on students passing end-of-course exams for both site-based schools and virtual schools beginning in the fourth year of implementation, with the first course, Algebra I, being funded this way in 2013-14.

Recommendations:

1. **Performance-based funding.** The state should consider competency-based or performance-based funding that pays for student outcomes not attendance. Models being implemented in other states should be considered, including Florida, where funding is based on student outcome for traditional, blended and online programs, and New Hampshire, which has transformed the entire K-12 education system into one based on competency pathways rather than Carnegie units of time.

MS 126C Education Funding: transform by basing school funding on performance not attendance.

2. Learning Option Program Funding Equity. Fund to the course or fractional course level for whatever is completed by the student. State funding should pay programs in installments that incentivize completion and achievement.

Two key changes would be required that would impact all learner option programs (PSEO, online learning, alternative learning, charter schools):

1) Fractionalize funding to a portion of a course completed using the funding model for State-Approved Alternative Programs. Currently most learner option programs are funded to the course level. This proposal would allow for fractional funding to the percentage of the course successfully completed.

2) Fund programs in at least two payments; one payment (50%) after a withdrawal date and the second payment upon completion (50%).

MS 124D.09 Postsecondary Enrollment Option Act Subd 13 MS 124D..091 Concurrent Enrollment Funding MS 124D.096 Online Learning Aid MS 124D.098 Literacy Incentive Aid MS 124D.11 Revenue for a Charter School

3. Acceleration and Credit Recovery. Widen access to additional funding for acceleration or recovering credit. The funding inequities among learner option programs should be addressed. Extended time ADM (20%) is available only to State Approved Alternative Programs (SAAPs) and Postsecondary Enrollment Options (PSEO), where students have access to publicly funded college courses beyond full time status based on enrollment guidelines set by the colleges.

The option to enroll above full time needs to be made equitable across learner option programs (including charter schools, online programs, district level programs) to acknowledge that digital learning can expand options for acceleration or credit recovery regardless of regulated program.

This would require amending the Learning Year Program statute to permit funded acceleration or credit recovery at the high school level. Unfortunately the 2013 legislature removed this option from learning year programs that were previously approved by the state for acceleration. The reason provided for eliminating funding for acceleration was that elementary programs were using the funding but students were not graduating before their peers.

MS 124D.128 Learning Year Program: reinstate allowance for acceleration at the high school level to graduation and permit programs offering digital learning to access aid to support acceleration to graduation. 124D.096 Online Learning Aid: allow aid to be paid for online learning courses for credit recovery and acceleration through access to extended time ADM

4. **Funding Special Populations.** Provide funding for special populations including non-domiciled students and shared time pupils to the same level as other public school students who are allowed to access online and digital learning. Shared-time students should be funded to the same level (50% of classes per semester) as enrolled public school students for online supplemental.

MS 126C.19 Shared time aid: lift the "only in a school building" restriction MS 120A Admission to Public School: change the residential requirement to allow for Minnesota family temporary mobility **5. Funding Access.** Provide student access and guidance to districts for necessary digital learning technology by considering funding strategies being considered in other states and within school districts including state and district provided, subsidized parent pay, and a mixed model, which includes "bring-your-own-device" (BYOD) policies.

In the 2013 Minnesota legislature, HF 1180 was proposed that would open the door to subsidized parent pay by authorizing a school district to charge fees in order to make digital technology more widely available.

MS 123B.36 Subd. 1: School boards may require fees.

6. Information Sharing. School districts have been relatively silent about online learning options due mainly to the loss of revenue. Although it is written into law, school districts minimally inform students and inhibit access to digital learning through supplemental online courses or full time online programs for all students. Since school districts are not making information widely available, it should be made possible by providing requirements similar to PSEO in subd 7 and 9 (see below reference).

MS 124D.095 Subd. 6.Information. School districts and charter schools must make available information about online learning to all interested people.

MS 124D.09 Subd. 7.Dissemination of information; notification of intent to enroll. By March 1 of each year, a district must provide general information about the program to all pupils in grades 8, 9, 10, & 11.

MS 124D.09 subd 9 A postsecondary institution may provide information about its programs to a secondary school or to a pupil or parent and it may advertise or otherwise recruit or solicit a secondary pupil to enroll in its programs on educational and programmatic grounds only.

7. Role of Private Educational Management Organizations. Consider the role of private organizations providing education funded by public education dollars. In some states private educational management organizations (EMOs) are given authority to deliver public education. In Minnesota, educational management organizations can work with districts and online learning programs through contractual agreements to provide services but not operate independently.

There are at least two current Minnesota statutes that permit private organizations to directly provide public K-12 education. These include contract alternatives serving atrisk students and private colleges through postsecondary enrollment options (see below). The digital learning council may consider trends in private organizations providing publicly funded digital learning since that precedent has been set in other public education programs.

124D.69 Aid for Alternative Programs Provided under Contract: private organizations providing alternative programs to at-risk students 124D.09 Postsecondary Enrollment Option Act: Private colleges can access postsecondary enrollment option aid for public and nonpublic school students. Supplemental Education Services (tutoring for students from schools not making annual yearly progress) was also provided by private, approved organizations.

Summary

There is evidence that learning can be accelerated and enhanced through digital instruction, online tutoring, restructuring curricula, and providing guiding feedback and formative assessment throughout the learning process. Current systems that define and pay for learning by semester or yearlong attendance in courses is arbitrary yet defended by long standing tradition rather than careful study and redesign. We have the potential to offer students opportunities to achieve twice the content expertise and competencies in half the time at much less cost through digital learning, but it will require careful design, development and evaluation to shift the systems currently in place.⁵³

⁵³ National Education Technology Plan, 2010.

VI. Quality Digital Content

Digital content and courses are high quality.⁵⁴

Statutes Relevant to Digital Content and Curriculum					
Curriculum	and Assessment				
MS 120B.02	Educational Expectations - cannot prescribe format of delivery, assessments or				
form of instruction MS 120B 021 Required Academic Standards					
WIG 1200.02	Exception/ Waiver: Subd. 1a.Rigorous course of study; waiver.				
	https://www.revisor.mn.gov/statutes/?id=120B.021#stat.120B.021				
120B.024	Graduation Requirements / course credit requirements				
School District Powers and Duties					
MS 123B.41	Subd 2 Textbook (2010 to include electronic books)				
MS 123B.41	Subd 5 Individualized Instruction or cooperative learning material				
MS 123B 42	Subu. 5a.Software of other educational technology.				
Tests*					
MS 124B.43	Use of Individualized Instructional Materials*				
*123B.42 and 123B.43, references individualized instructional materials to include "software or other educational technology" which is defined in MS 123B.4 Subd 5a as including software, programs, applications, hardware, and any other electronic educational technology.					
Education Programs					
MS 124D.09	Subd 3b: Authorization; notice; limitations on enrollment Subd 7: Department of Education.				
Proposed Bills 2013					
HF 1435 and SF 1345 Minnesota Learning Commons Consortium (2013) https://www.revisor.mn.gov/bills/bill.php?f=HF1435&b=house&y=2013&ssn=0 HE 0789 & SE 0894 Open Education Resource establishment and appropriation (2013)					

HF 1145 & SF 0781 Online homework help services funding provided

Overview

Digital content is defined as any instructional material or program stored on an electronic or digital medium that can be delivered by computers over the Internet. Online interactive and adaptive multimedia and adaptive release digital content offers opportunities for schools to transition from a single source of knowledge (static textbook) to dynamic digital learning units of instruction designed and/or selected by teachers and students who use them.

Digital content resides most often within learning management systems, which allow access to course content, lessons and instruction from any internet connection. It enables teachers to modify content and teach from anywhere at any time and students

⁵⁴ National Education Technology Plan, 2010

to study content, contribute to the class, participate in activities and submit assignments at their convenience.

In MS 124D.095 (Online Learning Option Act) it is required that a Minnesota licensed teacher assemble and deliver instruction in online and blended courses but allows the curriculum to be developed by someone other than a license teacher. The dilemma many districts face is whether to buy or develop their own digital content. The decision to develop digital instructional content involves skill, technology, time, financial resources and trained instructional designers/teachers. Many schools simply do not have the resources to design high quality digital content or courses.

There are online programs in the state that have built most of their own online courses as well as local districts that are encouraging teachers to design blended courses as they shift towards wider implementation of digital learning. Since few teachers are trained in digital instructional design the early versions of teacher-designed courses have been variable in quality mainly due to an attempt to mimic an onsite class rather than transform teaching and learning.

The bottom line for many district leadership is cost: if digital content is locally designed, they then have ownership of the course and will not have to pay for subscriptions or purchase content from a curriculum vendor. Additionally it allows more control at the local level over modifying and/or repurposing digital course content while giving that critical role of "assembling" instruction to the licensed teacher in the class as required by MS 124D.095 subd 3.

Minnesota does not take a top down approach to decisions regarding course content beyond requiring that curriculum and instruction meet state and local academic standards. The decision to procure curriculum is made at the local level with guidelines on curriculum budgets set at the state level.

One solution to the build versus buy digital content decision has been a grassroots effort to organize districts that want to collaborate to train teachers in instructional design of digital content and develop digital courses as open educational resources (OER) aligned to state academic standards available to all Minnesota schools and teachers. This project, the Partnership for Collaborative Curriculum and Innovative Instruction⁵⁵ invites participating districts to contribute financially (a small portion of a district's curriculum budget) to be used for training and digital content development. Teachers from partnership schools become part of cross-district design teams to create digital content to be used in traditional classrooms, blended and online courses. All content developed is reviewed by licensed teachers for quality and is available in open source learning management systems (Moodle or Schoology).

Examples of other States and Programs

⁵⁵ The Partnership for Collaborative Curriculum and Innovative Instruction, Retrieved June 2013, http://bit.ly/innovativeinstruction

There are three ways that other states have addressed policy regarding digital content and courses:

1. A statewide virtual school that offers supplemental online courses to students. In many cases, the local school does not lose funding if students take courses from the statewide virtual school (ACCESS in Alabama) or it is offered at reduced, state-subsidized tuition billed to the local district (Colorado Online). This "double dipping" has become unsustainable in some states that have closed their statewide virtual schools (e.g. Kentucky).

2. Independent organizations have been created to address providing digital learning to students. Florida Virtual School (FLVS) was created to provide this option with line item funding from the legislature. Funding for students enrolling in FLVS or other approved Florida providers follow the student at the course level to the program providing instruction. Florida approved providers only receive state funding when students successfully complete the course.⁵⁶ In Washington state, the Digital Learning Commons (DLC) was funded as a line item nonprofit organization that vetted quality online courses, provided a central registration system, delivered digital services (test preparation and instructional resources) and trained local school staff to support online students. In recent years the DLC in Washington has become a unit within the state education agency and funding has shifted more to local districts to support online courses.

3. Minnesota's model is to allow public schools and consortia of public schools to become approved online learning statewide programs or "providers" to deliver full time or part time online learning. The digital content that the providers use is resides with the program similarly to local curriculum decisions granted to districts implementing digital courses.

Libraries of Digital Content

Washington has joined a number of states (Florida, Ohio, California) in developing a library of high-quality, openly licensed K-12 courseware that is aligned to state and common core K-12 standards. The goals articulated in House Bill 2337⁵⁷ enacted in 2012 are to make these open education resources available free of charge to school districts in digital format so students and teachers have a broader selection of materials, materials that are more up-to-date and to substantially reduce the expenses that districts would otherwise incur in purchasing materials.

Minnesota has followed the lead of these states in requiring that a catalog of publicly available digital learning content currently aligned to Minnesota academic standards be

⁵⁶ 2012 Florida Statute 1002.321 Digital learning, Retrieved June, 2013:

http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=1000-1099/1002/Sections/1002.321.html

⁵⁷ Digital Learning Department, Office of Superintendent of Public Education, State of Washington, Retrieved June 2013: http://digitallearning.k12.wa.us/oer/

developed and maintained. The requirement was enacted in 2012 with the goal of making the resource available by June 2013. This catalog will include indexing of the curriculum to state academic standards, a method for users to provide evaluative feedback, a plan for ongoing maintenance and methods for including student performance data on the digital learning content.

The Minnesota Digital Catalog will be administered and maintained by the Minnesota Learning Commons (MnLC). The MnLC is a K-20 collaborative partnership of the Minnesota Department of Education, Minnesota State Colleges and Universities and the University or Minnesota to provide information about free online resources for public education. It was created as a centralized web portal to online, education-related resources, opportunities, tools and services for targeted audiences.

Recommendations on Removing Policy Barriers to Digital Content

Minnesota was highly ranked on state policy impacting digital content in the Digital Learning Now! 2012 report issued from Digital Learning Council. The top grade of "A" was given to Minnesota based on high expectations that all curriculum regardless of format is aligned to state academic standards, no additional burdens are placed on the approval and procurement processes for digital content beyond those for print content and instructional material funding may be used for purchasing digital content and systems.

The state could take it a step further and actively support efforts to make digital curriculum available through teacher-designed open educational resources in collaboration with other K-20 initiatives. The following recommendations would enable districts to work together and be better prepared for the shift to digital learning:

1. Support the Partnership for Collaborative Curriculum and Innovative Instruction (PC2I2) with establishment and funding in statute.

Minnesota's strong commitment to local control over curriculum and course content has been a barrier to schools working together to realize efficient and effective ways to develop digital content, train teachers in instructional design and implement high quality digital teaching and learning. The Partnership for Collaborative Curriculum and Innovative Instruction is an exemplary program that brings teachers and school leaders together to develop, train teachers and share resources to make quality digital content available to all Minnesota schools as open educational resources.

Proposal: The legislature should create a nonprofit foundation that would support and fund the work of the PC2I2 to develop, train teacher designers and implement digital open education resources (OER). This could be done in conjunction with the Minnesota Learning Commons (HF 1435 & SF 1345 - 2013) and an Open Education Resource Council (HF 0789 & SF 0824 -2013), two bills that were proposed but not passed in 2013.

2. Formally support the Minnesota Learning Commons as a K-20 initiative that joins together K-12 and higher education to provide quality digital learning opportunities to students, teachers, parents and community members.

Proposal: This organization should be recognized in state policy and funded so that collaboration can be supported and enhanced through strong leadership and financial support.

In 2013, HF 1435 (SF 1345)⁵⁸was proposed that would have formalized the MnLC as a consortium to "design, develop, and promote the adoption of technologies and services to advance the effectiveness and efficacy of school-to-school and school-to-work transitions for Minnesota students in public and nonpublic schools and communities". The bill provided for development of portfolio-based individual learning plans to increase proficiency outcomes and reduce the skill gap of postsecondary students in their transition to college and/or the workplace.

3. Schools districts are all attempting to vet digital content for quality when deciding to purchase digital curriculum or implement open educational resources. The curriculum is required to be aligned to state academic standards as well as having the rigor and activities that support quality instruction. It has become redundant to have digital content go through repetitive reviews and approval processes when online programs and schools are utilizing this curriculum

Proposal: Create an independent certification program that identifies approved, highquality digital curriculum and content solutions. This program would "help support a safe purchasing process and incentivize school districts to lean forward with the transition to digital learning."⁵⁹ This will reduce redundancy of effort of reviewing digital content and provide guidance to schools as they transition into the important planning, implementation and oversight responsibilities in the shift to digital education.

4. Evolve state and district purchasing cycles and products to reflect digital delivery. Multi-year purchasing cycles that are driven by the traditional textbook "edition" model are outdated. States and districts should adopt a more flexible, timely procurement process. Additionally shifting textbook budgets to support quality digital curriculum can be a cost savings. Support efforts of schools to collaborate to develop and/or share procurement and implementation of digital content. See H.F. 0789 & S.F. 0824 proposed (but not passed) in 2013 to establish and fund an open education resource council to develop strategies to use digital open source resources.

⁵⁸ HF 1435 (124D.99) Minnesota Learning Commons

https://www.revisor.mn.gov/bills/text.php?number=HF1435&version=0&session=ls88&session_year=2013 &session_number=0

⁵⁹ Paving a Path Forward for Digital Learning in the United States (2013), Leading Education by Advancing Digital (LEAD) Commission, Retrieved June 2013: http://www.leadcommission.org/news/lead-commission-unveils-digital-learning-blueprint

⁵⁴ A Review of State Laws and Rules and Policy Recommendations Related to Digital Learning

Thoughtful Integration of Statutes and Statewide Initiatives

The following statutes have implications for either inhibiting or advancing digital learning. Any changes should be made through thoughtful integration of these statutes and other initiatives. The dates noted in parenthesis are enactment dates followed by the most recent dates the statutes were amended.

- 120B.08 EARLY GRADUATION ACHIEVEMENT SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAM. Provides scholarship as an incentive to graduate early. (2011/2013)
- MS 120B.125 PLANNING FOR STUDENTS' SUCCESSFUL TRANSITION TO POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION AND EMPLOYMENT; INVOLUNTARY CAREER TRACKING PROHIBITED. (2001/2012)
- 122A.624 EDUCATIONAL EFFECTIVENESS PROGRAM. (1993/2003), 122A.625 Educational Effectiveness Plan (1983/2003) Based on principles of instructional design. Integrates developments of educational technology.
- 123B.04 SITE DECISION MAKING; INDIVIDUALIZED LEARNING AGREEMENT; OTHER AGREEMENTS. (1987/2012). Provides individualized student learning. Note H.F. 1342 (2013).
- 123B.045 DISTRICT-CREATED SITE-GOVERNED SCHOOLS. Provides for educator-led schools and site-based governance. (2009)
- 123A.06 STATE-APPROVED ALTERNATIVE PROGRAM AND SERVICES. Provides additional instruction to students who qualify for graduation incentives (1987/2012)
- 124D.03 ENROLLMENT OPTIONS PROGRAM. Parameters for open enrollment (1988/2003)
- 124D.09 POSTSECONDARY ENROLLMENT OPTIONS ACT. Dual college/high school program. (1985/2012)
- 124D.095 ONLINE LEARNING OPTION. Part-time and full time online learning. (2003/2012)
- 124D.10 CHARTER SCHOOLS. Establishes charter schools. (1991/2012)
- 124D.12 PURPOSE OF FLEXIBLE LEARNING YEAR PROGRAMS. Provides for alternative calendar and academic year schedules. (1974/1998)
- 124D.128 LEARNING YEAR PROGRAM TO PROVIDE INSTRUCTION THROUGHOUT YEAR. (acceleration eliminated in 2013). Provides for acceleration or credit/content recovery through extended time funding by providing learning in extended day or year format. (1989/2013)
- 124D.90 SCHOOL ENRICHMENT PARTNERSHIP PROGRAM. Private / public partnership programs. (1995/1998)
- 124D.94 MINNESOTA ACADEMIC EXCELLENCE FOUNDATION. (2003). Creates foundation to administer public-private partnerships to support academic excellence. (1983/2003)
- 124D.98 LITERACY INCENTIVE AID. Provides additional aid to districts for demonstrated student proficiency and growth. (2011/2012)
- Chapter Law 263 INNOVATIVE DELIVERY OF EDUCATION SERVICES AND SHARING OF DISTRICT RESOURCES; PILOT PROJECT. 6 pilot projects across the state that allow 2 or more school districts to work together to offer ideas to combine services in exchange for the state lifting

mandates. (2012)

Conclusion

Digital learning is a catalyzing agent to transform education by better preparing students for college and careers in the 21st century. It is critically important to lift barriers that inhibit innovation and digital learning that exist in state laws and rules that were enacted prior to the widespread proliferation of digital technology and that support an industrial model of education rather than knowledge-based learning systems.

Several states have taken bold measures to implement policies that would enhance digital learning at all levels of education. New Hampshire has moved to a competency-based system of advancement instead of using the Carnegie unit as a measure of learning. Open High School of Utah was created to provide courses freely available in digital formats. Washington has a Division of Digital Learning with six staff that oversees collaboration of participating school districts to provide online courses and programs to K-12 students. Michigan has created a Center for Online Learning Research and Innovation to support and accelerate innovation and build greater capacity for digital learning while expanding Michigan's leadership role in the knowledge economy.⁶⁰ Colorado has an Office of Online and Blended Learning in the state education agency's Choice and Innovation Office with eight professional staff. Wisconsin has developed a Vision for Digital Learning.⁶¹

Minnesota has a long and respected tradition of supporting learner options and various schooling models through school choice programs and course-level funding structures. Also the state has made recent attempts at acknowledging digital learning as a critical concept and method for improving educational outcomes. However the efforts to change the multitude of statutes governing school districts, education programs, teacher quality and school finance is a daunting undertaking. The regulations are complex and cross-cutting, created in years past and since amended (or defunct) without a "big picture" overview of how rapidly digital technologies are changing all sectors of society. The Minnesota Department of Education has a regulatory role with regards to online, blended and digital learning but is not able to provide the level and depth of guidance, support and consultation to bring about creative, transformative change that would open new pathways of learning.

The changes proposed in this report address the directive to identify laws and rules that "inhibit digital learning". Since many statutes have been created in silos of consideration, it is challenging to suggest how each could be updated to reflect the dramatic change that digital technology is bringing to all sectors of society. There is a diverse web of related education regulations that defies changing a subset of statutes without having consequences for other laws and rules.

⁶⁰ Center for Online Learning Research and Innovation in Michigan was established at the Michigan Virtual University with funding from the State of Michigan and the Michigan Legislature.

http://www.mivu.org/News/tabid/297/newsid696/85/mid/696/Default.aspx

⁶¹ Wisconsin's Vision for Digital Learning, Retrieved June 2013:

https://sites.google.com/a/dpi.wi.gov/wi_digital_learning_plan/

The best possible scenario would be for a separate "split screen" approach as described by Education Evolving in *Innovation-based Systematic Reform.*⁶² Christensen developed a similar theory as a service to non-consumers of education that doesn't directly compete with the majority industry in, *Disrupting Class, How Disruptive Innovation will Change the Way the World Learns.*⁶³ Both concepts call for separate development and implementation during which the new paradigm, product or service does not directly challenge an established or existing system or market and can operate outside norms and regulations. A new education sector would focus on creative and new models of school while trying to improve existing practices in conventional schools. It would involve consideration of a holistic continuum of P-20 education that is personalized through digital learning and new instructional pedagogies to support individual learners achieving 21st century skills and knowledge.

In several states, a nonprofit organization recognized and supported at the state level has been given the charge to help transform education by using a different lens than state regulation and mandates. In Colorado, this organization is the Colorado Legacy Foundation (CFL), which is an independent nonprofit working in partnership with the Colorado Department of Education and public education stakeholders to "accelerate bold improvements in student achievement through innovation, collaboration and capacity building".⁶⁴ Having a nonprofit take the lead in advancing educational innovation in Colorado has enabled creative and collaborative solutions by "conducting research, spurring dialogue, incubating innovative ideas, brokering partnerships, identifying proof points and scaling adoption of promising practices."

To best make the changes necessary to lift the barriers that are in antiquated state education policies and support advancement of digital learning, Minnesota should create a similar organization to the Colorado Legacy Foundation. In 2011, the MNovate Commission was proposed in S.F. 3025 in Minnesota. The Commission's mission was to "provide leadership for creation of new and innovative public schools and schooling."⁶⁶ In 2013, H.F. 1342 was introduced to support schools redesigning learning within districts. This bill also would have amended M.S. 123B.04 to allow "learning redesign sites and redesign of student achievement".⁶⁷ In order to advance transformative change in education we need to have a razor sharp focus on innovation, collaboration and capacity-building allowing creative people from all sectors of education, business and government to come together under a "legacy" organization to guide effective educational change that can be realized through digital learning.

⁶² Education *Evolving, Innovation-based Systemic Reform,* April 2010.

⁶³ Christensen, C., Horn M, Johnson, C, Disrupting Class: How Disruptive Innovation will Change the Way the World Learns, McGraw Hill, New York, 2008.

⁶⁴ Colorado Legacy Foundation, Retrieved June 2013: http://colegacy.org/about-us/

⁶⁵ Colorado Legacy Foundation, 2013

⁶⁶ Minnesota State Legislature, S.F. No 325, 2011, Retrieved June 2013:

http://www.senate.leg.state.mn.us/departments/scr/billsumm/summary_display_from_db.php?ls=&id=73 ⁶⁷ Minnesota State Legislature, H.F. 1342, 2013, Retrieved June 2013:

https://www.revisor.mn.gov/bills/text.php?number=HF1342&version=latest&session=ls88&session_number=0&session_year=2013

References

- Annual Report and Broadband Plan (2012), Governor's Task force on Broadband, Retrieved June 2013: http://www.connectmn.org/sites/default/files/connectednation/Minnesota/files/tfdecember_2012_report.pdf.
- Bailey J., Schneider C. & Vander Ark T. (2013), *Funding Students, Options, and Achievement,* Digital Learning Now!, Retrieved June 2013 from: http://www.digitallearningnow.com/wpcontent/uploads/2013/04/Funding-Paper-Final.pdf
- Bailey J., Schneider C. & Vander Ark T. (2013), Funding the Shift to Digital Learning: Three Strategies for Funding Sustainable High Access Environments, Retrieved June 2013 from: http://digitallearningnow.com/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/DLN-Smart-Series-Paper-1-Final.pdf
- Boser, U, Are Schools Getting a Big Enough Bang for Their Education Technology Buck? Center for American Progress, (2013), http://www.americanprogress.org/issues/education/report/2013/06/14/66485/are-schools-getting-abig-enough-bang-for-their-education-technology-buck/
- Center for American Progress: The Stealth Inequities of School Funding (2011), http://www.americanprogress.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/09/StealthInequites.pdf
- Center for Rural Policy and Development, *Minnesota Adoption Rate 2010-2012* (2012), Retrieved June 2013 from: http://www.connectmn.org/_documents/MNPlanningReport_ALL_screen.pdf
- Christensen, C.M., Horn, M.B., Johnson, C. W. (2008). *Disrupting Class: How disruptive innovation will change the way the world learns.* New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Colorado Expanded Learning Opportunities Commission, Beyond Walls, Clocks and Calendars: Rethinking Public Education in Colorado (2010), Retrieved June 2013 from: http://colegacy.org/resource/the-expanded-learning-opportunities-commission-beyond-walls-clocksand-calendars/
- Dawley L., Rice, K. & Hinck G., *Going Virtual 2010: The Status of Professional Development and the Unique Needs of K-12 Online Teachers* (2010) Boise State University.
- Digital Learning Now!, *10 Elements of Quality Online Learning* (2010), Retrieved December 2010 from: http://digitallearningnow.com/
- Digital Learning Now! *Digital Learning Now! State Report Card*, 2012, Retrieved May 2013 from: http://www.digitallearningnow.com/wp-content/uploads/reportcard/2012/2012ReportCard.pdf
- Education Evolving, Disruptive Innovation and the "Split Screen" Approach, 2013, Retrieved June 2013: http://www.educationevolving.org/system/disruptive-innovation-split-screen
- Evergreen Education Group, *Digital Learning In Colorado* (2013, January), Colorado Children's Campaign, Report retrieved June 2013: http://www.dkfoundation.org/sites/default/files/files/Digital%20Learning%20final%20for%20web.pdf

- Glick, D., *The Demographics off Online Students and Teachers in the United States 2010-11*, (2011), Retrieved May 2013 from: http://www.glickconsulting.com/sites/default/files/images/Online_Demographics_Glick_2011.pdf
- High Tech High Educator Training, Retrieved June 16, 2013 from, http://www.hightechhigh.org/about/educator_training.php
- Hill, P.T., *School Finance in the Digital Learning Era,* (2013) Thomas B Fordham Institute, Retrieved June 2013 from:

http://www.edexcellencemedia.net/publications/2011/2011_CreatingSoundPolicyforDigitalLearning/20111116_SchoolFinanceintheDigitalLearningEra_Hill.pdf

Hill, P.T, Steps in the Right Direction: Assessing "Ohio Achievement Everywhere' the Kasich Plan, (2013) Thomas B Fordham Institute.

Houle, D., & Cobb, J. (2011). Shift Ed. Thousand Oaks: Corwin.

- Innovate to Educate: System (Re)Design for Personalized Learning, A Report from the 2010 Symposium, Retrieved June 2013 from: http://www.ccsso.org/Resources/Publications/Innovate_to_Educate_System_ReDesign_for_Person alized_Learning_-_A_Report_from_the_2010_Symposium.html
- Innovative School Advisory Council: Report of the Council to Commissioner Alice Seagren Minnesota Department of Education, January 15, 2010, Retrieved June 2013: http://www.educationinnovating.org/files/ISAC-Report-Jan-2010.pdf
- Michigan Department of Education, Pupil Accounting Manual, *50B Seat Time Waiver*, Retrieved June 2013 from: http://www.michigan.gov/documents/mde/5-O-B_SeatTimeWaivers_329678_7.pdf
- Minnesota Session Law Chapter 273 S.F. 1528 (2012): Innovative Delivery of Education Services and Sharing of District Resources. Retrieved June 2013 from: https://www.revisor.mn.gov/laws/?doctype=Chapter&year=2012&type=0&id=273
- Minnesota Department of Education, *Education Finance Working Group Report* (2012) Retrieved May 2013: http://education.state.mn.us/MDE/Welcome/AdvBCT/EducFinanWork/index.html
- Minnesota Office of the Legislative Auditor, Evaluation Report of K-12 Online Learning, (September 2011), State of Minnesota, Retrieved November 2011 from: http://www.auditor.leg.state.mn.us/ped/pedrep/k12oll.pdf
- Minnesota Office of the Revisor of Statutes, MS 126C.19 *Shared Time Aid*, Retrieved June 2013: https://www.revisor.mn.gov/statutes/?id=126C.19
- Molnar, Alex (editor), Virtual Schools in the U.S. 2013, (2013) National Education Policy Center, Retrieved May 2013 from: http://nepc.colorado.edu/publication/virtual-schools-annual-2013
- New Hampshire Department of Education, *Course level competencies and models,* (2013), Retrieved June 2013 from: http://www.education.nh.gov/innovations/hs_redesign/competencies.htm

- Patrick, S. & Dawley, L. (2009), Redefining teacher education: K-12 online-blended learning and virtual schools. Brief prepared for the Summit on Redefining Teacher Education for Digital Age Learners, Austin, TX: The University of Texas.
- Paving a Path Forward for Digital Learning in the United States (2013), Leading Education by Advancing Digital (LEAD) Commission, Retrieved June 2013: http://www.leadcommission.org/news/leadcommission-unveils-digital-learning-blueprint
- Prisoners of Time (2005 reprint of the 1994 report), Report of the National Education Commission on Time and Learning, (2005), Retrieved May 2013 from: http://www.ed.gove/pubs/PrisonersOfTime/index.html

Re-inventing Schools Coalition, Retrieved June 2013: http://www.reinventingschools.org/

- Staker, H. The Rise of K-12 Blended Learning: Profiles of emerging models (2011), Innosight Institute, Retrieved May 2013: from:http://www.innosightinstitute.org/innosight/wpcontent/uploads/2011/05/The-Rise-of-K-12-Blended-Learning.pdf
- Thomas B. Fordham Institute, *Fund the Child, Tackling Inequity and Antiquity in School Finance*, July 2006, retrieved June 15, 2013 from: http://www.schoolfunding.info/resource_center/media/Fordham_FundtheChild.pdf
- *Transforming American Education Learning Powered by Technology*, National Education Technology Plan, 2010, (2010) U.S. Department of Education, Office of Educational Technology.
- U.S. Department of Education, Report: Evaluation of Evidence-based Practices in Online Learning: A Meta-Analysis and Review of Online Learning Students, (2008), Retrieved May 2013: http://www2.ed.gov/rschstat/eval/tech/evidence-based-practices/finalreport.pdf
- U.S. Department of Education, National Education Technology Plan (2010), Retrieved May 2013 from: http://www.ed.gov/technology/netp-2010
- Vander Ark, T. (2012). Getting Smart. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Washington Office of Superintendent of Public Education, Digital Learning Department, State of Washington, Retrieved June 2013: http://digitallearning.k12.wa.us/oer/
- Wisconsin State Statute 118.19 (13), Wisconsin Act 222, enacted in April of 2008, 30 hour training requirement to teach online (2008), Retrieved May 2013 from: http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/error?aspxerrorpath=/document/statutes/118.19

Appendix

Specific Recommendations on Laws and Rules

- I. Learning: Engage and Empower
 - a. **MS 124D** Learner options program enrollment, requirements and reporting should be consistent and streamlined.
 - b. **No action.** Digital Learning Graduation Requirement. Suspend consideration of an online graduation requirement.
 - c. MS 123A.06, MS 124D.128, MS 124D.68, MS 126C.05 Credit recovery and at-risk students. Consider allowing digital learning programs and schools to qualify for extended time funding to reach all at-risk students regardless of location.
 - d. **MS 120A.22, MS 124D.01, MS 126D.19.** Amend by eliminating location restriction for shared time students by allowing digital learning.
 - e. **MS 120A.20, MS 122A.22.** Amend to allow Minnesota residents temporarily living out of state to enroll in public education through digital learning.
 - f. **MS 125A.50**, Require data analysis and development of best practices for special needs students engaging in digital learning. Review alternative delivery of specialized instructional services to implement the most effective digital learning strategies.
 - g. MS123B.04, MS 124D.095, MS 124D.126, MS 124D.128, Chapter Law 263. Revise statutes to increase opportunities to personalize digital learning in which the student has "an element of control over the time, place, path, or pace of their learning."
 - h. New Statute. Create a nonprofit organization to stimulate growth in new, innovative schools. Provide incentives for programs to demonstrate creative solutions using digital learning to expand learning time and improve student outcomes. S.F 3025 (2011) MNovate.
 - i. New Statute. Consider investment in or coordination of a statewide eLearning portal such as IDEAL New Mexico or as recommended in the Digital Learning Plan of Wisconsin.
 - **j. MS 124D.90, MS 124D.94** Update and fund these statutes that provide incentives for private/public partnerships in education.
 - k. MS 120, MS 123B.04, MS 124D, MS 126C.05 Revise statutes to allow advancement based on mastery rather than grade-based progression.

II. Assessment: Measure what Matters Most

MS 120.30-.36 Assessment; Accountability

Revisions to state educational assessment systems should focus on three goals:

- **a.** Creating an ongoing technology-based formative assessment system that provides realtime feedback to students and teachers as part of the learning process.
- **b.** Customize online assessment by using various measures of learning, data analytics to adjust instruction to unique learning modalities and testing students at the time of learning.
- c. Assess authentic learning: Expand project-based learning, career academies, crosscutting 21st century skill building (e.g. critical thinking, communication, collaboration).

III. Quality Teaching: Prepare and Connect

- a. MS 120A.22, MS 122A.60 Create digital teaching standards to meet these requirements.
- **b. MS 122A.245** Consider allowing other entities than schools of education to issue teaching licenses modeled after High Tech High in California for digital educators.
- **c. MS 122A.23** Allow teacher reciprocity for highly effective digital educators from other states by participating in the NASDTEC Interstate Agreement.
- **d.** Pre-service digital field experiences. Encourage schools of education to offer field experiences in virtual courses / digital classrooms.
- e. **New Statute.** Establish a program to encourage online presence for all teachers. This will include training in digital design, communication and pedagogy. Support collaborative state-funded digital curriculum development by highly trained Minnesota teachers and

instructional designers. See Partnership for Collaborative Curriculum and Innovative Instruction. Reinstate MS 122A.625 with a focus on digital instruction.

- IV. Infrastructure: Digital Learning Delivery
 - a. MS 125B.02, MS 125B.15, MS 125B.26 Update educational technology statutes that have not been updated in over 15 years.
 - **b.** New Statute. Established benchmarks and public/private partnerships for statewide high-speed broadband access and adoption for all K-12 schools, students and families.
 - **c.** New Statute. Schools should have digital learning plans that develop capacity to use digital tools and instructional strategies. As more digital content and learning management systems are an integral part of learning environments, school infrastructure should be robust, provide adequate capacity and reliable.
 - **d. State Agency Role.** MDE needs leadership in the area of digital learning and educational technology rather than parsing out duties to different internal units with limited staff support.
 - e. Statewide Volume Purchasing. State agencies that are charged with procurement of digital technologies should assist and guide districts to the lowest cost, best products and services to advance digital learning.
 - f. Statewide student data systems. The state should ensure that local and state student data systems are updated, interoperable and robust.

V. Digital Learning: Funding and Productivity

- **a.** MS 126C Performance-based funding should be the basis of funding students.
 MS 124D Create equity among learner option programs and fund to the fractional course credit level.
- **b. MS 124D.128, 124D.096.** Fund Learning Year and Online Learning Programs to allow student acceleration to graduation. Digital learning gives students the flexibility to advance more quickly to graduation.
- c. MS 126C.19, MS 120A. Allow funding for non-domiciled and shared time students.
- **d. MS 123B.36** Allow for a mixed model of school fees to be paid by parents for digital technologies. See HF 1180 (2013) Authorize a school district to charge fees.
- e. MS 124D.095 Subd 6, MS 124D.09 Subd 7 & 9. Mandate information sharing at the local level rather than withholding information about digital learning options because of lost local revenue.
- f. **MS 124D.69, 124D.09, 124D.095.** There is precedent in statute to fund private educational organizations (contract alternatives, PSEO). Policymakers should give careful consideration to possible funding for private organizations providing digital educational services.

VI. Quality Digital Content

- a. New Statute / HF 0789 & SF 0824 (2013) Establish an OER Council to support the Partnership for Collaborative Curriculum & Innovative Instruction in development digital curriculum as OER freely available for teachers, students and schools.
- **b.** New Statute. Formalize the Minnesota Learning Commons (MnLC) as a P-20 organization in support of digital learning. See HF 1435 / SF 1345 (2013)
- c. 124D.095 Subd. 7, MS 120 Create an independent, non-governmental certification program that identifies approved, high-quality curriculum and content solutions. Include a provision in MS 124D.095 to review digital curriculum and courses once and avoid redundancy during new online learning provider applications.
- **d.** New Statute Support in statute electronic and digital curriculum. The state and districts need to adopt more flexible timely procurement processes less tied to multi-year purchasing cycles tied to traditional textbooks.

VII. Redesign of Learning

- a. H.F. 1342 (2013) Support and fund redesign of learning through new models of school and approaches to learning.
- b. S.F. 3025 (2011) To provide leadership for creation of new and innovative public schools and schooling.

List of Websites of Key Organizations

Digital Learning Now!, http://www.digitallearningnow.com

Getting Smart, http://www.gettingsmart.org

iNACOL International Association for Online Learning Reports and Publications, http://inacol.org

Keeping Pace, http://digitallearningnow.com/wp-content/uploads/2011/11/Keeping-Pace-2011.pdf

KnowledgeWorks Foundation, http://knowledgeworks.org

Minnesota Department of Education Online Learning,

http://education.state.mn.us/MDE/Academic_Excellence/School_Choice/Public_School_Choice/Online_L earning/index.html

Minnesota K-12 Online Advisory Council 2008 report: http://bit.ly/2008olladvisoryreport

<u>Minnesota K-12 Online Learning Advisory Council 2010 - 2013,</u> https://sites.google.com/site/mnolac/documents.

Minnesota Online Learning Alliance, http://mnola.org

Minnesota Learning Commons, http://mnlearningcommons.org/

National Education Technology Plan, http://www.ed.gov/technology/netp-2010

National Repository of Online Courses, http://www.montereyinstitute.org/nroc

Partnership for Collaborative Curriculum and Innovative Instruction, http://bit.ly/innovativeinstruction

Reinventing Schools Coalition, http://reinventingschools.org

Key Minnesota Reports

These reports are all linked on the 2013 K-12 Online Learning Advisory Council website

- 2002 Online Learning in Minnesota: Summary Report of the Online Learning Task Force
- 2004 Digital Learning Plan of Minnesota
- 2008 Summary of the Work of the K-12 Online Learning Advisory Council
- 2010 Innovative Schools Advisory Council Report
- 2011 Minnesota Legislative Audit of K-12 Online Learning
- 2011 Governor's Broadband Task Force
- 2012 Mid-term Report of the K12 Online Learning Advisory Council